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‘PwC has long supported well 
considered transparency by business 
including appropriate reporting of 
tax information, recognising the 
potential value for companies from 
being open with shareholders and 
other stakeholders.’
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More companies are 
saying more about tax
We have been reviewing the tax reporting of UK listed 
companies for eight years as part of the Building Public Trust 
Awards. In that time, we have seen considerable changes in how 
companies report their tax affairs. 

Not only are companies saying more about tax, but they are covering a broader range 
of tax topics. From the top 50 reporters:

Over half ( 52%) now include 
some discussion of how they 
approach their tax affairs, 
compared to 18% in 2007

Two thirds talk about the 
governance and oversight of 
tax, compared to 23% in 2007

Over half (54%) talk about 
their relationship with tax 
authorities – a 50% increase 
in two years

A third disclose tax 
payments by country or 
region – up from a quarter 
last year

Half include tax as part of a 
discussion of the broader 
economic value they add 
– up from 27% in 2007

Nearly 60% talk about taxes 
other than corporate income 
tax – more than double the 
number that did so in 2011

52%

54% ½

60%

33
2

The quality of tax reporting of the top 50 
companies, as identified by our scoring 
process, is shown opposite using the 
three main areas of the tax transparency 
framework. While many companies 
exhibit strong tax reporting, there is still 
room for many companies to consider 
whether their tax reporting is as helpful 
as it could be.

 
54%28% 18%

62%32%

32%30% 38%

Tax strategy and 
risk management

Tax numbers and 
performance

Total Tax 
Contribution and the 
wider impact of tax

Strong 

communication

Potential to 

develop reporting

Clear opportunities to 

develop reporting

6%

All statistics in this publication are based on our review of the 50 companies that had the most 
extensive tax reporting in the FTSE 350. The 50 companies were selected by looking at the number 
of references to tax in the companies’ reports (annual reports, sustainability reports, websites etc) 
for periods ended between 1 April 2012 and 31 March 2013. Each of the 50 sets of reports was then 
examined against 38 separate criteria in line with the PwC Tax Transparency Framework.
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Foreword

Given the level of public 
debate around tax, there 
has never been a greater 
need for businesses to 
build trust around their 
tax affairs.

We highlight some truly 
innovative ways in which 
companies are seeking to 
explain their tax affairs, 
and the tax system 
more generally, to a 
wide audience.

A number of events this year have 
continued to challenge the public’s 
trust in business, but for international 
businesses particularly, a key issue in 
2013 has been the explosion of 
interest in the tax affairs of 
multinational companies. Companies 
are recognising that transparency in 
their approach to tax is a crucial 
element in regaining trust and this 
year our review of tax reporting in the 
FTSE350 shows that a number of 
companies have provided additional 
voluntary tax disclosures to explain 
their tax position to a much 
broader audience. 

Much has been written about tax 
transparency recently and there’s no 
sign that the debate will subside. 
But alongside the on‑going rhetoric 
and arguments, we should recognise 
today’s leaders in tax reporting. 
Without their leadership and 
innovation, their willingness to 
disclose information voluntarily on 

their tax affairs with no certainty as to 
the reaction, we would have made 
little progress in this debate. 
By “putting their heads over the 
parapet”, the leaders are helping to 
rebuild public understanding of, and 
trust in, tax which is vital for tax 
systems to operate effectively.

PwC has long supported well 
considered transparency by business 
including appropriate reporting of tax 
information, recognising the potential 
value for companies from being open 
with shareholders and other 
stakeholders. 

2013 is the eighth year that we have 
reviewed the tax reporting of the UK’s 
largest companies using the Tax 
Transparency Framework which we 
developed back in 2005 drawing on 
the views of business, investors, 
governments and analysts. 

Over these eight years the framework 
has developed and matured to take 
account of the issues raised by various 
stakeholder groups as well as 
reflecting what companies are 
reporting in practice. Our first reviews 
of tax reporting were based on only 
nine questions, whereas now we 
include almost 40 questions. 

In this report we look in more detail at 
how the Tax Transparency Framework 
has evolved and how companies have 
changed their tax reporting. We look 
at some of the questions that are being 
asked of companies on their tax 
affairs, and provide examples of 
disclosures made by the leaders in tax 
reporting to show what they are doing 
in practice.

 
Andrew Packman

Andrew Packman

Tax Transparency and Total Tax 
Contribution Leader

PwC UK



“Corporate tax and tax transparency remain highly sensitive topics and at Vodafone we have 
opted to take a proactive approach to addressing some of the common misunderstandings by 
publishing our tax risk management strategy, simple explanations of key issues, and, for the 
first time, details of how much tax we pay to individual governments, how much we invest in, 
and contribute to, the infrastructure and broader economy of all the countries in which we 
operate. Almost every week we are able to direct media, members of the public, NGOs or 
others with questions about tax to our published reports, which I hope will help foster a more 
sensible and balanced debate about tax and enhance Vodafone’s reputation in this area.”

John Connors 
Group Tax Director 
Vodafone Group

The view from business

“Tax is a major subject of debate for all businesses, governments and other stakeholders. At Rio 
Tinto, our tax strategy and payments are central to our approach to achieving sustainable 
development for the long term as a business, as a sector and as a global corporate citizen. 

We have committed to provide detailed tax reporting on tax payments to governments by 
voluntarily providing a detailed breakdown of all the taxes we pay, not just corporate income tax. 
We believe that our voluntary reporting can help to foster constructive debate over natural 
resource taxation policy as part of the overall contribution to economic development that 
responsible mining investments can make. 

We believe that it is essential for tax policy and design to take into account the cyclical nature of the 
industry and to respect agreements under which investment capital has already been committed. 
For an industry that makes multi‑decade investments, with significant up‑front capital 
expenditure, the risk of fiscal instability will influence the global flow of capital and a country’s 
ability to attract and retain investment. Above all, tax law should never be retrospective.”

Mark Andrewes 
General Manager, Global Tax 
Rio Tinto

“Tax is both a significant operating cost for our business and an important part of 
the contribution that we make to the economies where we operate. This means that a 
wide range of stakeholders are interested in Rank’s tax affairs and so it is important 
for us to set out clearly which taxes we pay, how much we pay, and how this affects 
our business. We believe it is vital that taxes are levied fairly in a way that promotes 
responsible behaviour and provides a sustainable revenue stream for governments.

We therefore actively engage with governments and regulators to inform the 
development of tax policies to deliver simple, sustainable and predictable receipts 
while encouraging investment and the generation of new jobs.”

Clive Jennings 
Finance Director 
The Rank Group

7December 2013
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Tax reporting that is limited to 
historical corporate income tax 
numbers is unlikely to be enough

It has become increasingly clear in recent years that a 
wide range of individuals and organisations are 
interested in the tax that companies pay. The challenge 
for many companies is understanding who wants to 
know what, for what purpose and then how best to 
provide that information in a way that tells the whole tax 
story and meets the needs of the readers.

Traditionally, companies have reported 
tax in their financial statements strictly 
in line with the relevant accounting 
standards. This meant that tax 
reporting tended to focus on corporate 
income taxes, was backward looking 
and generally provided tax figures only 
at the consolidated group level.

What the recent debates and 
legislative changes have shown is 
that this relatively narrow reporting 
is not always sufficient to provide all 
interested parties with the information 
and explanation that they want; in 
response we have seen companies 
broadening the nature and extent 
of the tax information that they are 
putting into the public domain. In a 
few cases, companies are issuing 
separate stand‑alone reports on tax or 
are including significant sections on 
tax in their annual reports or corporate 
social responsibility reports.

While these companies see clear 
benefits in telling their whole tax story, 
there are many others that are not yet 

saying much more than the minimum 
that is required by accounting 
standards. Why might this be? 
For some companies, tax will not be 
a significant financial or reputational 
risk. A company based and trading 
largely in the UK and selling to other 
businesses for example may be 
unlikely to have complex international 
tax affairs or to need to respond to 
interest from other stakeholders.

However, there is a feeling, given the 
tenor of the public debate and the 
headlines seen in the media, that many 
finance directors doubt the ability to 
secure positive coverage around tax 
disclosures. So, for the time being at 
least, some are deciding to ‘keep their 
heads down’, and disclose only what is 
required of them. 

In this context, it is interesting to 
see that a number of companies 
are now attempting to explain the 
fundamentals of tax (see pages 28 and 
29) which we hope will lead to a more 
informed debate.

For those companies that are 
understandably reticent to disclose 
more information, we would 
encourage them to think carefully 
about the disclosures that they do 
make. In many cases the language used 
in the tax disclosure notes and in tax 
accounting policy notes is shrouded in 
technical tax and accounting jargon 
and consequently not well understood 
by the general public. As an example, 
some instances of how companies are 
changing their tax reconciliations are 
shown on pages 20 to 23. 

Companies may want to take a fresh 
look at their tax reporting in the light 
of recent developments and consider 
whether they should be doing more 
to improve trust in their tax position 
and in the tax system more generally. 
We would encourage companies to 
resist the temptation to simply roll 
forward the previous year’s disclosure 
and to take time to think whether 
those disclosures could be improved. 
The tax reconciliation would seem 
to be a good place to start such 
an exercise.

And finally, the advent of 
country‑by‑country tax reporting, 
initially for the extractive, logging, 
banking and investment management 
industries, but potentially being 
considered for all industries, will 
force many companies to disclose new 
information (see box on page 13). 
The question for these companies 
is how that data will be interpreted 
in the absence of other information 
to provide an appropriate and 
relevant context. 
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The Tax Transparency Framework 
includes other areas of tax for 
companies to consider

Given that, for many 
companies, tax reporting 
under existing accounting 
standards is unlikely to be 
sufficient to meet the needs 
of all interested parties, the 
question remains as to what 
companies should be 
reporting and how.

Our review of the tax reporting of the 
FTSE 350 over the last eight years has 
been based on the Tax Transparency 
Framework set out opposite. 
The framework is not intended as a tick 
list of items that all companies should 
report, and indeed not all areas will 
be relevant for all companies. Instead, 
the framework provides a list of items 
for companies to think about when 
developing their tax reporting. 

Since its initial conception in 2005, the 
framework has matured and developed 
to keep up to date with what we have 
been seeing in practice. Two areas now 
included in the framework that were 
not there in the beginning are:

•	 Discussion of the company’s 
approach to advocacy and lobbying 
activities on tax.

•	 Disclosure of policy in key areas 
for the business, for example tax 
planning and transfer pricing. 
Based on this year’s review, 
disclosure of policies on the use of 
jurisdictions commonly regarded as 
“tax havens” may need to be added 
to this list.

Tax Transparency Framework

1.
Tax strategy and risk management

•	Discussion of tax objectives 
and strategy.

•	Disclosure of policies in key 
areas for the business, for 
example, tax planning and 
transfer pricing.

•	How the tax strategy and 
function are managed and 
who has responsibility for 
governance and oversight.

•	Discussion of material 
tax risks.

2.
Tax numbers and performance

•	Clear reconciliation of the tax 
charge to the statutory rate.

•	Discussion of cash tax 
payments and how they relate 
to the tax charge.

•	Forward‑looking measures for 
tax, such as an indication of 
the future direction of the 
company tax rate.

3.
Total Tax Contribution and the wider impact of tax

•	Show how tax impacts wider 
business strategy and 
company results.

•	Discussion of advocacy and 
lobbying activities on tax. 

•	The impact of tax on 
shareholder value.

•	Communication of the 
economic contribution of all 
taxes paid. 
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The developing world 
of tax reporting

Over the next few pages, we present some of the 
highlights from our review of tax reporting that we 
carried out in 2013. Not all of the examples will work for 
every situation and businesses will need to find the 
approach that works best for them. We are therefore not 
advocating that any business should follow the specific 
examples included. The examples are simply intended to 
show the possibilities that exist for tax reporting for 
those thinking about how best to tell their tax story. 

It is noticeable that many of the 
companies which we use as examples 
have previously been shortlisted for, 
or have won, the Building Public 
Trust Awards for excellence in tax 
reporting. This reflects a trend that 
we have seen for a number of years; 
there are a relatively small (albeit 
growing) number of companies that 
have spent considerable time and effort 
in improving their tax disclosures and 
in general these companies continue 
to have some of the leading practice in 
tax reporting.

We have seen a few companies making 
significant improvements in their tax 
reporting in recent years, but overall 
there has been little movement in 
the composition of the group of 50 
companies that we consistently view 
as having the best tax reporting in the 
FTSE 350.

That said, in the process of reviewing 
tax reporting against the Tax 
Transparency Framework we have 
identified a number of novel or 
ground‑breaking approaches to 
disclosure.

The amount of work required by 
companies in making these disclosures 
should not be overlooked. The 
disclosures shown on the following 
pages have required companies 
to identify, gather, collate, verify, 
understand and present data in a 
way that they would not have done 
before. This effort is magnified if new 
disclosure requirements are introduced 
with little notice or if what needs to be 
disclosed is unclear.
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Tax strategy and risk management
Just over half of the companies that we 
reviewed included some discussion of 
how they approached their tax affairs, 
two thirds talk about governance and 
oversight of tax and just over half talk 
about their relationships with tax 
authorities. 

There is though considerable variation 
in how companies describe their 
tax strategies and a few contrasting 
examples are included on pages 14 
and 15.

The framework has always encouraged 
companies to talk about tax risks and 
we are seeing companies now talking 
about tax as a reputational risk as 
well as a financial risk. For those 
companies where tax is a material 
risk, we look for tax risks that are 
well explained with sufficient detail 
to be able to understand the specific 
factors that give rise to the risk as 
well as understanding how the risk 
is managed.

Disclosing policy on the use of “tax 
havens” is not explicitly referred to as a 
separate item in the Tax Transparency 
Framework, but it continues to be 
a consistent area of focus for some 
civil society organisations (CSOs). 
We are though seeing some companies 
beginning to disclose their policies on 
operating in “tax haven” jurisdictions.

Tax numbers and performance
Tax numbers have always been at the 
heart of tax reporting. Almost all the 
companies that we review address 
several of the areas from this section 

of the Tax Transparency Framework. 
That said, while all companies report 
current and deferred tax figures and 
include a tax reconciliation, some 
companies’ disclosures are easier to 
understand than others.

Many companies continue to use 
technical tax and accounting 
terms that would not generally 
be understood by members of 
the public. We include on pages 
20 and 23 some examples of how 
companies are changing their tax 
reconciliations and view this as a 
key area where companies could do 
more on tax reporting, to aid a wider 
understanding of tax. 

One area that makes tax harder to 
understand is the interaction of 
different countries’ tax systems. 
We have seen this year a new approach 
in this area from Prudential as shown 
on page 23.

Cash tax paid is a key number that 
is often picked up by CSOs and the 
media, especially when the payment 
is smaller than the tax charge. 
Several companies are now including 
disclosures to explain this difference, 
as shown on page 25.

‘Just over half of the companies that 
we reviewed included some discussion 
of how they approached their tax 
affairs, two thirds talk about 
governance and oversight of tax and 
just over half talk about their 
relationships with tax authorities.’
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Total Tax Contribution and the 
wider impact of tax
The Tax Transparency Framework 
has always recognised that tax 
forms a significant part of the 
contribution that businesses make 
to the communities where they 
operate. It also recognises that 
this contribution comes not just 
from corporate income tax, but 
from all taxes that businesses bear 
and administer.

The taxes that businesses pay are 
however determined by the tax 
systems that apply to them, and so 
we welcome the developments this 
year with some companies looking to 
explain how those tax systems work.

Mandatory country‑by‑country 
reporting of tax and other financial 
data is a rapidly developing area of 
legislation (see box opposite), but 
country‑by‑country is not explicitly 
part of the Tax Transparency 
Framework. Meanwhile, a number of 
companies are considering whether 
meaningful voluntary information 
can be usefully communicated on a 
country‑by‑country basis. For some 
companies country‑by‑country 
reporting can help to demonstrate 
the tax contribution that they 
make in each country where they 
operate. This year we have seen more 
companies reporting tax payments by 
country or region and a greater level 
of detail from some companies than 
they have shown in the past.

As part of demonstrating the 
contribution that they make, about 
a third of the companies reviewed 
disclose their Total Tax Contribution 
showing all the taxes that they pay. 
While some taxes such as labour 
taxes and property taxes apply to all 
industry sectors, there are certain 
industry specific taxes that are very 
significant for some companies. 
We include on pages 32 and 33 
examples of companies talking about 
the taxes that are important for them.
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Country‑by‑country reporting
The following is a brief summary of current and forthcoming 
mandatory country‑by‑country reporting frameworks. More detail 
is available from the PwC publication, ‘Tax transparency and 
country‑by‑country reporting, an ever changing landscape’: 

EU Accounting and Transparency Directives 
– large and listed extractive and logging 
companies in the EU will have to disclose 
payments to governments by country for 
all the countries in which they operate. 
Member States are currently transposing 
this requirement of the Directive into local 
legislation and it will apply from 1 January 
2016 at the latest.

EU Capital Requirements Directive IV 
(CRD IV) – banks and certain investment 
firms operating in the EU are required by 
the Directive to disclose the following by 
country for every country where they operate: 
name, nature and location of activities; 
turnover; number of employees; profit or loss 
before tax; tax on profit or loss; and public 

subsidies received. Some aspects of these 
rules will apply from 1 January 2014 and 
all aspects will apply from 1 January 2015. 
The disclosures must be audited.

EU discussions – the European Parliament, 
European Commission and Council of 
Ministers are discussing amendments to 
the Accounting and Transparency Directive 
which, if implemented, would extend the 
CRD IV type disclosures (including the audit 
requirement) to all large businesses in the EU.

OECD discussions – as part of the work on 
base erosion and profit shifting, the OECD 
is looking at including a country‑by‑country 
reporting template in transfer pricing 
documents for disclosure to tax authorities.
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Tax strategy and risk management
Tax strategy – the backbone of how businesses approach 
their tax affairs

•	 Over the eight years of the BPTA 
awards we have seen the number 
of companies discussing their tax 
strategy in their annual reporting 
increase from 18% to 52%.

•	 A clear strategy should underpin 
the key decisions that a business 
takes and this should also apply to 
tax decisions. 

•	 In order to build trust and enhance 
reputation, tax strategy should be 
aligned with the overall business 
strategy and consistent with the 
wider corporate and social goals of 
an organisation.

•	 We provide below some examples 
of tax strategy disclosures, 
from the very concise to the 
very detailed. 

•	 Matters that we frequently see 
included in descriptions of tax 
strategies are:
•	 The balance between 

maximising shareholder value 
and tax optimisation

•	 Responsibilities for tax and the 
level of board involvement

•	 Approach to tax planning
•	 Approach to relationships with 

tax authorities

Directors’ report - Business review - Group

Continued
Financial review

Capital structure – overall position 
At the end of the financial year the Group’s 
net debt of £2,009 million gave a gearing 
ratio of net debt to (equity plus net debt) 
of 65.4% at 31 March 2013 (2012 71.9%) 
with the reduction attributable to the £300 
million hybrid capital issuance. 

South West Water’s debt to Regulatory 
Capital Value (RCV) was 55% at 31 March 
2013 (2012 56%) which compares to Ofwat’s 
optimum range of 55% – 65%. 

Viridor is funded by a combination 
of Pennon Group equity and debt (raised 
by Pennon Group) and direct borrowing 
by Viridor. At the year end Viridor’s net 
debt was £676 million (2012 £517 million) 
equivalent to 8.7 times EBITDA (2012 4.7 
times). During the year Viridor’s equity base 
was increased by £151 million through 
revised intragroup funding. 

Treasury policies 
The role of the Group’s treasury function 
is to ensure that we have the funding to meet 
foreseeable needs to maintain reasonable 
headroom for future contingencies and to 
manage interest rate risk. The Group enters 
into certain structured financing transactions 
that have and are expected to provide 
an improved return on surplus funds 
and overall interest rate performance. 
It operates only within policies approved
by the Board and undertakes no speculative 
trading activity. 

The Board regularly monitors expected 
financing needs for at least the next 12 
months. These are intended to be met for 
the coming year from existing cash balances, 
loan facilities and operating cash flows. 

The Group has considerable financial 
resources and a broad spread of business 
activities. The Directors therefore believe 
that it is well placed to manage its business 
risks despite the ongoing uncertainties 
of the current economic environment. 

Internal borrowing 
South West Water’s funding is treated 
for regulatory purposes as ring-fenced. 
This means that funds raised by, or for, 
the company are not available as long-term 
funding for other areas of the Group. 

Going concern 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue its operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. They therefore have 
continued to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements. 

Taxation objectives and policies 
Our tax strategy, as approved by the 
Board, is to ensure we do not engage in 
any practices which avoid paying tax at the 
appropriate levels. We manage the taxes 
we pay having regard to the interests of our 
shareholders and our long-term relationship 
with the tax authorities. We will consider 
bona-fide arrangements which are integral 
to our business and which qualify for tax 
exemption or relief. 

Tax contribution 2012/13 

The Group made a net payment of 
£18.5 million of UK corporation tax in 
the year (2011/12 £41.4 million) which 
reflects settlement of previous years’ 
tax computations and tax relief on the 
exceptional charge for aftercare costs. 
South West Water paid £34.0 million 
(2011/12 £28.5 million) of UK corporation 
tax on profit before tax of £164.6 million 
(2011/12 £141.5 million).

Landfill tax
£162m

Employment taxes
£51m

Business rates
£29m

UK corporation tax
£19m

Fuel Excise Duty
£11m

Environmental payments
£10m

Carbon Reduction Commitment
£1m

Other 
£3m

Pennon Group Plc Annual Report 201334

Source: Pennon Group plc 
Annual Report 2013, p34

Governments recognise that their 
countries exist in this globally 
competitive environment, competing 
for new and continuing long-term 
investment. Indeed, today, many 
countries successfully use their  
tax system as a means of attracting 
such investment through building 
transparent, stable and competitive tax 
regimes. They recognise the far bigger 
economic benefits that attracting such 
investments bring to their country 
through creating jobs and wealth. 

There is a need to balance the risks 
and rewards of responsible investment 
and the development of non-
renewable resources. For the industry, 
this means balancing high-risk, 
long-term capital investment with likely 
future returns. For government, it 
means balancing the need to raise tax 
revenues with a competitive, attractive 
tax regime and other objectives  
such as creating employment and 
poverty alleviation. 

That balance relies on the capacity  
of governments to administer the tax 
regime in a fair and consistent manner 
over the long term and governance 
once those revenues have been 
collected. We believe that the various 
initiatives aimed at building capacity 
and governance are fundamental to 
ensuring that communities benefit 
from the significant value generated  
by our presence. 

Our tax strategy 
Our approach to tax sits within the 
context of our long-term business 
strategy and is determined by our 
Board-approved tax strategy. This is 
discharged by a team of professionals 
acting in accordance with our Guiding 
Values and Good Citizenship Business 
Principles. It commits us to optimise 
and grow shareholder value through 
the responsible management of the 
Group’s tax affairs in compliance  
with the law in all areas of tax planning 
and compliance. 

Our tax strategy is split into  
three pillars:

 •Tax governance 

 •Advisory and engagement 

 •Compliance and reporting. 

Our tax professionals support our 
commercial decision-makers. They 
provide timely tax advice to ensure that 
we comply with the law and to enable 
us to proactively engage with tax 
authorities where appropriate.  
This forms part of our strategy to  
seek to maintain a long-term, open, 
constructive relationship with tax 
authorities and governments. 

Our tax strategy clearly states that  
all Group companies should comply 
with their legal obligations and 
responsibilities in relation to the 
preparation of the tax computations, 
returns and payments required by 
every tax jurisdiction in which we 
operate, respecting the laws of  
each country. 

Transparency 
We provide data to meet the needs  
of financial markets and other 
stakeholders, as set out in mandatory 
disclosures. In addition to this, we 
make significant voluntary disclosures, 
such as those in this report. 

Mandatory transparency includes  
that set out by financial reporting 
standards, stock market listing 
requirements and transparency 
requirements such as the Extractive 
Industries Transparency Initiative 
(EITI), of which we are a founder 
member, or those proposed in the  
EU. The EITI engages government, 
business and civil society in a tripartite 
process that involves companies 
publishing what they pay by way of 
resource revenues to their host 
governments, and the governments,  
in turn, publishing what they receive. 
Most importantly, the results are 
reconciled and validated. 

We support the principles of 
transparency, doing this in a practical, 
readable, understandable and 
accessible way, and voluntarily publish 
information on the taxes we pay. 

The value of transparency is 
inextricably linked to its objectives.  
We believe that being transparent 
helps to demonstrate to our 
stakeholders the important economic 
contribution that Anglo American 
makes to the communities and 
countries in which we operate.  
We recognise, too, the role that 
transparency can bring in  
fighting corruption. 

cREaTING ValuE fOR sOcIETy cReAtInG VALUe foR Host coUntRIes

We believe  
that being 
transparent 
helps to 
demonstrate  
to our 
stakeholders 
the important 
economic 
contribution 
that Anglo 
American 
makes to the 
communities 
and countries  
in which we 
operate.

Taxes borne   
$ million

Developed 579
Developing   2,989

Taxes collected   
$ million

Developed   460
Developing   803

tAxes BoRne AnD coLLecteD 
In 2012

$4,831m

28 Anglo American plc Sustainable Development Report 2012

Governments recognise that their 
countries exist in this globally 
competitive environment, competing 
for new and continuing long-term 
investment. Indeed, today, many 
countries successfully use their  
tax system as a means of attracting 
such investment through building 
transparent, stable and competitive tax 
regimes. They recognise the far bigger 
economic benefits that attracting such 
investments bring to their country 
through creating jobs and wealth. 

There is a need to balance the risks 
and rewards of responsible investment 
and the development of non-
renewable resources. For the industry, 
this means balancing high-risk, 
long-term capital investment with likely 
future returns. For government, it 
means balancing the need to raise tax 
revenues with a competitive, attractive 
tax regime and other objectives  
such as creating employment and 
poverty alleviation. 

That balance relies on the capacity  
of governments to administer the tax 
regime in a fair and consistent manner 
over the long term and governance 
once those revenues have been 
collected. We believe that the various 
initiatives aimed at building capacity 
and governance are fundamental to 
ensuring that communities benefit 
from the significant value generated  
by our presence. 

Our tax strategy 
Our approach to tax sits within the 
context of our long-term business 
strategy and is determined by our 
Board-approved tax strategy. This is 
discharged by a team of professionals 
acting in accordance with our Guiding 
Values and Good Citizenship Business 
Principles. It commits us to optimise 
and grow shareholder value through 
the responsible management of the 
Group’s tax affairs in compliance  
with the law in all areas of tax planning 
and compliance. 

Our tax strategy is split into  
three pillars:

 •Tax governance 

 •Advisory and engagement 

 •Compliance and reporting. 

Our tax professionals support our 
commercial decision-makers. They 
provide timely tax advice to ensure that 
we comply with the law and to enable 
us to proactively engage with tax 
authorities where appropriate.  
This forms part of our strategy to  
seek to maintain a long-term, open, 
constructive relationship with tax 
authorities and governments. 

Our tax strategy clearly states that  
all Group companies should comply 
with their legal obligations and 
responsibilities in relation to the 
preparation of the tax computations, 
returns and payments required by 
every tax jurisdiction in which we 
operate, respecting the laws of  
each country. 

Transparency 
We provide data to meet the needs  
of financial markets and other 
stakeholders, as set out in mandatory 
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make significant voluntary disclosures, 
such as those in this report. 
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that set out by financial reporting 
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requirements and transparency 
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governments, and the governments,  
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transparency, doing this in a practical, 
readable, understandable and 
accessible way, and voluntarily publish 
information on the taxes we pay. 

The value of transparency is 
inextricably linked to its objectives.  
We believe that being transparent 
helps to demonstrate to our 
stakeholders the important economic 
contribution that Anglo American 
makes to the communities and 
countries in which we operate.  
We recognise, too, the role that 
transparency can bring in  
fighting corruption. 

cREaTING ValuE fOR sOcIETy cReAtInG VALUe foR Host coUntRIes

We believe  
that being 
transparent 
helps to 
demonstrate  
to our 
stakeholders 
the important 
economic 
contribution 
that Anglo 
American 
makes to the 
communities 
and countries  
in which we 
operate.

Taxes borne   
$ million

Developed 579
Developing   2,989

Taxes collected   
$ million

Developed   460
Developing   803

tAxes BoRne AnD coLLecteD 
In 2012

$4,831m

28 Anglo American plc Sustainable Development Report 2012

Source: Anglo American plc, Sustainable Development Report 2012, p28

Pennon Group has a 
very concise disclosure 
focussing on its approach 
to tax planning

Anglo American’s tax strategy 
disclosure relates the tax strategy 
to its long‑term business strategy 
and commercial decision making
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How clearly do you articulate your tax strategy and its 
implications for day to day business?
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Taxation

R ank’s businesses support communities 
throughout Britain, Spain, Belgium,  
Malta and in Alderney by providing 
employment opportunities and paying  

local and national taxes. 
Over the last 18 months, the Group’s  

businesses generated £265.3m (2010: £156.2m)  
for the UK Exchequer (excluding exceptional VAT 
claims detailed below) and local government in  
VAT, gaming taxes, income tax, National Insurance 
contributions and local business rates. This 
represents a 13.1% increase in our monthly tax 
contributions. The broader impact of Rank’s 
operations, including taxes paid by supplier 
companies and the economic consequences  
of providing employment to more than 8,500  
(2010: 8,100) people in the UK, is harder to  
quantify but no less significant. 

Tax strategy
Rank aims to manage and plan its tax affairs in  
the UK and continental Europe with a view to 
reducing the cash tax payable in each jurisdiction 
and minimising the Group effective tax rate,  
while fully complying with relevant legislation. 

The Group tax strategy is regularly reviewed and 
approved by the board and supported by the use of 
appropriate advice from reputable professional firms. 
Where disputes arise over the interpretation and 
application of tax legislation, the Group is 

committed to proactive discussion with the relevant 
authorities as soon as possible and only resorts to 
litigation once all other avenues are exhausted. An 
open dialogue is maintained with HMRC involving 
regular meetings to review tax issues and brief them 
on business issues.

Over the course of the period, Rank has stepped 
up its efforts to conclude several outstanding issues 
with HMRC and overseas tax authorities. This 
escalation has already seen several longstanding 
issues resolved, with the result that Rank has received 
£6.2m of overpaid VAT from HMRC relating to the 
disposal of Rank’s pension scheme. In concluding the 
remaining tax, duty and VAT issues Rank might be 
obliged to make cash payments to HMRC. However, 
Rank is satisfied that it has made adequate provision 
for any payments that might become due in relation 
to these, currently unresolved, tax issues. 

Effective tax rate
The Group’s effective corporation tax rate in 2011/12 
was 26.3% (2010/11: 29.4%) based on a tax charge  
of £16.2m on adjusted profit before taxation and 
exceptionals of £61.5m. This is below the Group’s 
anticipated effective tax rate because of a series of 
prior year adjustments and the reduction in the 
headline rate announced in Budget 2012. The 
effective corporation tax rate for 2012/13 is expected 
to remain around the current level. Further details  
of the taxation charge are provided in note 6.

TAX FACT FILE

We believe Rank has a responsibility to contribute to the communities and 
economies where we are established; this includes the payment of tax. 

UK tax contribution (£m)

265.3
Grand Total

39.0
Bingo Duty

62.2
Casino Duty

12.2
Machine Licences

39.8
Output VAT

32.6
National Insurance contributions

38.3
Income Tax

19.4
Rates

21.8
Corporate Taxes
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The Rank Group’s strategy disclosure clearly 
states its approach to tax optimisation. 
It also details the involvement of the 
board and external advisers as well as its 
approach to dealing with tax authorities

UK USA LGN LGF

£561m £23m £29m £47m

 Profits taxes borne
 Other taxes borne 

 (property taxes, VAT, social security)
 PAYE collected from annuitants
 Other taxes collected 

 (Payroll, Premium, VAT)

country by country analysis of total tax contribution
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Reconciliation of tax charge in income statement to UK tax 
paid in the cash flow statement

Equity holders' 
Tax in Income 

Statement

Accounting 
adjustments 

including 
deferred tax

2012 tax 
instalments 

payable 
in 2013

2011 tax 
instalments 
paid in 2012

UK Tax paid per 
consolidated 

cash flow 
statement

Overseas 
tax

counTRy By  
counTRy AnAlySIS
The total taxes borne and collected  
in 2012 and paid to UK and overseas 
governments amounted to £660m 
(2011: £615m). This comprised UK 
taxes of £561m (2011: £535m) and 
overseas taxes of £99m (2011: £80m). 
For this first time, this year the 
analysis below shows the main taxes 
borne and collected in each of the 
main countries where we operate. 
Taxes borne and collected in Ireland 
are less than £1m (2011: less than £1m) 

transparency and are participating  
in this discussion with Action Aid  
and Transparency International 
Corporate Network amongst others. 
We include information on our UK 
corporation tax paid in 2012 below. 
our success in moving towards 
increased corporate tax transparency 
is reflected in our winning of PwC’s 
‘Building Public Trust’ award for tax 
reporting in the FTSe 100 in 2012.  
The award recognises transparency 
and excellence in corporate reporting. 

and have therefore been included  
in the UK segment. We have not 
included our taxes borne and 
collected by any of our joint 
venture operations. 

cASH TAX ReconcIlIATIon
The chart below provides a summary 
reconciliation between the equity 
holders’ tax charge disclosed in 
the income statement of £235m  
(an effective tax rate of 22.7%) and  
the UK corporation tax paid of £60m, 
in the cash flow statement. 

TAX STRATegy

 We are committed to meeting all  
legal requirements and making  
all appropriate tax payments in  
the territories in which we operate. 
When evaluating tax planning,  
we will also always consider 
the Group’s reputation, brand and 
corporate and social responsibilities.

 We will:
•	   not pursue arrangements  

which are not in line with  
our Group Code of ethics;

•	  avoid tax pitfalls by considering 
tax as part of every major 
business decision and ensuring 
appropriate controls are in  
place to manage our tax risks;

•	  not undertake transactions 
whose sole purpose is to create 
an abusive tax result;

•	  discuss in real-time our 
interpretation of the law with HMRC 
where we pursue tax planning;

•	  include Board-level oversight 
as part of our tax risk 
governance processes;

•	  be transparent in respect of our 
tax affairs and provide disclosure 
in our Annual Report and Accounts 
about our tax approach, tax rate 
and cash tax payments; and

•	  contribute to the development 
of UK tax policy and legislation. 
where appropriate.

annual report and accounts 2012 43
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Source: Legal and General Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2012, p43Legal and General’s tax strategy disclosure provides 

considerable detail on its approach to tax planning and 
tax risk including its approach to transparency and the 
development of tax legislation
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Tax strategy and risk management
Tax can be a reputational as well as a regulatory and financial risk

•	 In the past, tax risk has largely 
been seen as a financial or 
regulatory risk with the principal 
danger being litigation costs and 
increased tax liabilities in the 
event that there was a dispute over 
interpretation of the law.

•	 Now, however, tax is increasingly 
being seen also as a reputational 
risk with some companies 
stating that one of the goals of 
their tax strategy is to manage 
the reputational risk associated 
with tax.

•	 Another statement we see is that 
companies want to be viewed as 
responsible corporate taxpayers.

•	 One aspect of managing the 
reputational issues around tax is 
for businesses to explain clearly 
the tax risks that they face and 
how they manage these.

•	 Tax is often complicated. Much 
depends on the individual 
circumstances of a group, 
but operating across country 
borders, operating in particular 
industries or territories 
increases complications and so 
increases risk.

•	 Where the tax risks are material, 
businesses need to explain these 
clearly to their stakeholders, yet 
many use generic disclosures, 
including tax with broader 
regulatory and other legal risks.

•	 Given the complexity, explaining 
tax risks and their mitigation 
to non‑specialists is not easy. 
We include an example from 
Provident Financial which explains 
in detail the group’s approach 
to mitigating tax risk and the 
progress it has made in reducing it.

Source: National Grid plc, Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13, p49

National Grid states that it 
manages its tax affairs to minimise 
reputational risk

snowstorms in Massachusetts, which reduced operating profit in 
2011/12 by £116 million. There were no major storms in 2010/11.

The table below shows adjusted operating profit and operating 
profit excluding the impact of timing differences and major storms.

Years ended 31 March

Excluding the impact of timing differences and 
major storms

2013
£m 

2012
£m 

2011
£m

Adjusted operating profit 3,764 3,593 3,326

Operating profit 3,874 3,637 3,471

Adjusted earnings
The significant drivers affecting our adjusted earnings including 
impacts on adjusted operating profit, adjusted net interest 
charge and adjusted tax charge have been discussed in the 
financial review – in brief section on pages 06 and 07.

Exceptional items
Exceptional charges of £84 million in 2012/13 consisted of 
restructuring costs of £87 million less a gain on sale of our 
EnergyNorth gas business and Granite State electricity business 
in New Hampshire of £3 million.

Exceptional charges of £122 million in 2011/12 consisted of 
restructuring charges of £101 million, environmental charges of 
£55 million and impairment charges of £64 million, offset by net 
gains on the disposals of subsidiaries of £97 million and other 
net gains of £1 million.

Exceptional charges of £350 million in 2010/11 consisted 
of restructuring costs of £89 million, environmental charges 
of £128 million, impairment costs and related charges of 
£133 million and other charges of £15 million, offset by net 
gains on disposals of three subsidiaries and an associate 
of £15 million.

Commodity remeasurements
Remeasurements on commodity contracts represent mark-to-
market movement on certain physical and financial commodity 
contract obligations in the US. 2012/13 included a gain of 
£180 million (2011/12: loss of £94 million; 2010/11: gain of 
£147 million).

Exceptional finance costs and other remeasurements
There were no exceptional finance costs in 2012/13 or 2011/12. 
There were £73 million of exceptional finance costs during 
2010/11 relating to the early redemption of debt following the 
rights issue in June 2010, offset by £43 million of exceptional 
interest income relating to tax settlements in the US. Financial 
remeasurements relate to net gains and losses on derivative 
financial instruments, 2012/13 included a gain of £68 million 
(2011/12: £70 million loss; 2010/11: £36 million gain). 

Stranded cost recoveries
Stranded cost recoveries were substantially recovered in prior 
years, the £14 million recognised in 2012/13 represents the 
release of an unutilised provision recognised in prior years 
related to the disposed plants (2011/12: £260 million; 2010/11: 
£348 million).

Exceptional taxation
Taxation related to exceptional items, remeasurements and 
stranded cost recoveries changes each year in line with the 
nature and amount of transactions recorded.

In addition, exceptional tax from 2012/13 included an exceptional 
deferred tax credit of £128 million arising from a reduction in 
the UK corporation tax rate from 24% to 23% applicable from 
1 April 2013. Similar reductions in the UK corporation tax rate 
in 2011/12 from 26% to 24% and in 2010/11 from 28% to 26% 
resulted in £242 million and £226 million deferred tax credit 
respectively.

More information on exceptional items, remeasurements and 
stranded cost recoveries can be found in note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements on page 112.

Taxation
Tax strategy
We manage our tax affairs in a proactive and responsible way 
in order to comply with all relevant legislation and minimise 
reputational risk. We have a good working relationship with all 
relevant tax authorities and actively engage with them in order to 
ensure that they are fully aware of our view of the tax implications 
of our business initiatives. Responsibility for our tax strategy 
rests with the Finance Director and the Global Tax and Treasury 
Director who monitor our tax activities and report to the 
Finance Committee.

Total tax contribution
We have taken the decision to provide additional information on 
our total UK tax contribution. The total amount of taxes which we 
pay and collect in the UK year on year is significantly more than 
the corporation tax which we pay on our UK profits. Within the 
total, we include significant other taxes paid such as business 
rates and taxes on employment together with employee taxes 
and other indirect taxes. 

For 2012/13 our total tax contribution to the UK Exchequer, 
inclusive of taxes collected and taxes borne, was £1.2 billion. 
Taxes borne by the Company directly in 2012/13 were 
£678 million, a 12% increase on taxes borne in 2011/12 of 
£603 million, due to higher corporation tax payments in the 
current year. Our 2011/12 total tax contribution was £1.1 billion. 
The Hundred Group’s 2012 Total Tax Contribution Survey ranked 
National Grid as the 16th highest contributor of UK tax. The 
most significant amounts making up the 2012/13 amount were 
as follows: 

UK total tax contribution 2012/13
£m

VAT       PAYE & NIC       UK corporation tax
Business rates       Other        

343
243

47 441 1
122

392

Taxes borne Taxes collected

Tax transparency
The UK tax charge for the year disclosed in the accounts in 
accordance with accounting standards and the UK corporation 
tax paid during the year will differ. For transparency, we have 
included a reconciliation on page 50 of the tax charge for the 
income statement to the UK corporation tax paid in 2012/13.

www.nationalgrid.com Annual Report and Accounts 2012/13 National Grid plc 49
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Source: Rio Tinto plc, Taxes Paid in 2012, p5

Rio Tinto considers the 
impact of tax planning on its 
wider corporate reputation

riotinto.com 5

Taxes paid in 2012

3 Our tax strategy and governance
In support of our overall business strategy and objectives, Rio Tinto pursues a tax strategy 
that is principled, transparent and sustainable in the long term. The Group has established 
principles governing its tax strategy which have been reviewed and approved by the board of 
directors. These remain unchanged from previous years and include the following key points:

•   A tax strategy that is aligned with our 
business strategy and conforms with 
our global code of business conduct, 
“The Way We Work”.

•   Commitment to ensure full compliance 
with all statutory obligations, and full 
disclosure to tax authorities.

•   Maintenance of documented policies 
and procedures in relation to tax 
risk management and completion 
of thorough risk assessments before 
entering into any tax planning strategy.

•   Sustaining good relations with tax 
authorities, and actively considering 
the implications of tax planning for the 
Group’s wider corporate reputation.

•   Management of tax affairs in a pro-
active manner that seeks to maximise 
shareholder value, while operating in 
accordance with the law.

Within this governance framework, the 
conduct of the Group’s tax affairs and the 
management of tax risk are delegated 
to a global team of tax professionals. 
Management certifies our adherence 
to these principles to the Rio Tinto 
board of directors on an annual basis. 
The suitability of the tax strategy and 
principles is kept under regular review.

Cape Lambert

There has been increased public and 
press interest in the use of “tax havens” 
by multinational companies in recent 
years. A tax haven is typically thought of 
as a low or no tax country which may also 
have laws that limit the public disclosure 
of information and which may restrict 
the exchange of information with tax 
authorities from other countries.

There can be sound commercial reasons 
for a multinational group to use companies 
located in tax haven territories such as 
where they offer a stable government and 
a clear legal framework. Other reasons 
include beneficial regulatory requirements 
or the provision of a neutral tax territory 
for joint ventures between companies that 
are headquartered in different countries.

Rio Tinto has over 650 subsidiaries 
of which about 20 are incorporated 
in countries which may be considered 
to be tax havens. Of these, several are 
inactive. The remainder are either tax 
resident in the UK, or are subject to the 
UK’s international tax rules and any 
other similar international tax rules. 
The activities of these entities are fully 
disclosed to all relevant tax authorities.

In accordance with our tax strategy, all 
exchanges of goods, property and services 
between companies within the Group are 
conducted on an arm’s length basis.

Transfer pricing between Group companies 
is based on fair market terms and on the 
commercial nature of the transactions. 
Rio Tinto locates certain of its activities 
in the areas of marketing, procurement 
and freight close to external customers, 
suppliers and a relevant skills base, rather 
than at the site of the mine or operating 
site. Centralising activities also delivers 
benefits in the form of economies of scale 
and skill.

Marketing, procurement, freight, debt 
finance, management services and other 
similar services provided to other Group 
companies (related party transactions) 
are charged at an arm’s length price in 
accordance with relevant international tax 
principles and are subject to review and 
audit by the relevant tax authorities.

Where required the tax returns contain 
schedules that provide details of related 
party transactions, and we provide the 
tax authorities all necessary information 
to determine whether to make further 
enquiries on audit.

riotinto.com 5
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management of tax risk are delegated 
to a global team of tax professionals. 
Management certifies our adherence 
to these principles to the Rio Tinto 
board of directors on an annual basis. 
The suitability of the tax strategy and 
principles is kept under regular review.

Cape Lambert

There has been increased public and 
press interest in the use of “tax havens” 
by multinational companies in recent 
years. A tax haven is typically thought of 
as a low or no tax country which may also 
have laws that limit the public disclosure 
of information and which may restrict 
the exchange of information with tax 
authorities from other countries.

There can be sound commercial reasons 
for a multinational group to use companies 
located in tax haven territories such as 
where they offer a stable government and 
a clear legal framework. Other reasons 
include beneficial regulatory requirements 
or the provision of a neutral tax territory 
for joint ventures between companies that 
are headquartered in different countries.

Rio Tinto has over 650 subsidiaries 
of which about 20 are incorporated 
in countries which may be considered 
to be tax havens. Of these, several are 
inactive. The remainder are either tax 
resident in the UK, or are subject to the 
UK’s international tax rules and any 
other similar international tax rules. 
The activities of these entities are fully 
disclosed to all relevant tax authorities.

In accordance with our tax strategy, all 
exchanges of goods, property and services 
between companies within the Group are 
conducted on an arm’s length basis.

Transfer pricing between Group companies 
is based on fair market terms and on the 
commercial nature of the transactions. 
Rio Tinto locates certain of its activities 
in the areas of marketing, procurement 
and freight close to external customers, 
suppliers and a relevant skills base, rather 
than at the site of the mine or operating 
site. Centralising activities also delivers 
benefits in the form of economies of scale 
and skill.

Marketing, procurement, freight, debt 
finance, management services and other 
similar services provided to other Group 
companies (related party transactions) 
are charged at an arm’s length price in 
accordance with relevant international tax 
principles and are subject to review and 
audit by the relevant tax authorities.

Where required the tax returns contain 
schedules that provide details of related 
party transactions, and we provide the 
tax authorities all necessary information 
to determine whether to make further 
enquiries on audit.
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How clearly do you explain your tax risks and how 
you handle them?

75

GOVERNANCE

RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION PROGRESS IN 2012

FINANCIAL 
RISK

The risk that the group suffers  
a loss as a result of unexpected 
tax liabilities.

HMRC is placing greater emphasis 
on taxation controls in assessing 
tax risk and the associated level 
of scrutiny placed on companies.

• The group’s approach to tax is embodied in a 
board-endorsed tax strategy which has also 
been shared with HMRC. This strategy seeks to 
ensure that the group complies with tax rules 
and regulations, pay the tax it is legally required  
to pay in the territories in which it operates  
and its reputation as a responsible taxpayer  
is safeguarded. The strategy also sets out  
the group’s approach for managing tax risk  
and ensuring tax receives the appropriate 
consideration at board level.

• An experienced in-house team is responsible 
for managing the group’s tax affairs and advice 
is sought from external advisors on all material 
transactions.

• The group is committed to building open  
and honest relationships in its day-to-day 
interaction with tax authorities. Management 
has regular and positive dialogue with HMRC 
across all UK taxes which includes advance 
discussion of transactions where the tax 
treatment is uncertain.

• The group has documented systems, processes 
and controls to support the UK taxes it pays 
and the preparation and submission of  
related tax returns.

• Policies and procedures are in place which 
support the management of key tax risk areas, 
including policies and procedures which seek 
to ensure that the relationship between CCD 
and the agents it engages is such that self-
employed status is maintained.

• Working to further improve 
and embed the procedures 
in place which seek to ensure 
that the agents engaged by 
CCD remain self-employed.

• Working alongside HMRC to 
agree a number of historic 
corporation tax matters, 
thereby building on the 
progress made in 2010.

PENSION 
RISK

The risk that there may be 
insufficient assets to meet the 
liabilities of the group’s defined 
benefit pension scheme.

The current economic 
environment results in increased 
volatility in equity markets and 
corporate bond yields.

Improving mortality rates  
in the UK.

• The defined benefit pension scheme was 
substantially closed to new members from 
1 January 2003.

• Cash balance arrangements are now in place 
within the defined benefit pension scheme to 
reduce the exposure to improving mortality 
rates.

• The pension investment strategy aims to 
maintain an appropriate balance of assets 
between equities and bonds.

• New employees are invited to join the group’s 
stakeholder pension scheme which carries no 
investment or mortality risk for the group.

• The group’s pension asset for 
accounting purposes stands 
at £23.0m as at 31 December 
2012 (2011: £13.5m).

• The defined benefit pension 
scheme has recently been 
amended so that accrued 
pension benefits are now 
linked to increases in CPI 
rather than future salary 
increases. This reduces  
the future liabilities  
of the scheme.

• Annual contributions to the 
defined benefit scheme will 
increase from £10m to £16m 
in 2013, following the triennial 
funding valuation performed 
as at 1 June 2012.

Source: Provident Financial plc, Annual Report and 
Financial Statements 2012, p75 Provident Financial sets out its key 

tax risk, as well as disclosing the 
actions that it takes to mitigate its 
tax risks more generally 

Provident 
Financial explains 
the progress it has 
made in agreeing 
tax matters 
with HMRC

Provident Financial 
sees tax as a 
reputational issue
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Tax strategy and risk management
Companies in locations which some regard as “tax havens” can 
be perceived as being there only for tax reasons

•	 A number of stakeholders, 
particularly (CSOs, have been 
concerned for some time about the 
activities of companies located in 
countries which some regard to be 
“tax havens”.

•	 Reporting on “tax havens” is 
one of the seven key criteria for 
tax responsibility included by 
ActionAid in its publication “Tax 
responsibility an investor guide”.

•	 An ActionAid campaign also 
sought to ensure that the 
companies in the FTSE 100 
publically disclose the location 
of all their subsidiaries and the 
activities that they carry out. 

•	 While CSOs have acknowledged 
that companies may exist in 
‘tax havens’ for legal or trading 
reasons, the initial assumption 
is often that they are there for 
tax reasons.

•	 We are now seeing a few 
businesses discussing their 
approach to this area as well as 
setting out what they are actually 
doing in those locations. Some 
examples of disclosures are 
shown opposite. 
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1. Strategic overview 2. 3. 4. 

You have repeatedly made the 
point that SSE must earn the  
right to make its profit. Do you 
believe it has done so this year?

Alistair • This year has been a case of ‘one 
step forward; one step back’. The outcome 
of Ofgem’s investigation into our previous 
sales practices was obviously a significant 
setback in persuading customers that we 
are worthy of their trust. 

We have a lot of work to do in the months 
ahead. However, on a more positive note, 
we introduced a sector-leading Customer 
Service Guarantee that is delivering for 
customers. 

More broadly, the performance of the 
Networks businesses, especially in the 
late March snow storms on the west of 
Scotland, should have helped to build 
trust and respect amongst our network 
customers and other stakeholders.

The record £10.5m fine imposed 
on SSE for misleading customers 
has been described as a “damning 
indictment of what SSE has done.” 
How can you square that with the 
values the company promotes?

Ian • I can’t. But I do believe that good 
companies can make bad mistakes. The 
test of whether an organisation can live  
up to the standards expected of it is in 
making sure the mistake is put right and 
never repeated. We are all determined  
that this will be the case with SSE.

Alistair • The SSE values are about being 
open and honest and we have made  
no bones about the fact we got things 
wrong, and we’ve all apologised for that. 
Ofgem has proved itself to be a tough 
regulator on this matter. The key thing  
that matters now is that we never  
repeat the same mistake.

At the end of 2011 we introduced  
a Sales Guarantee to compensate 
customers who may have been mis-sold. 
Since then, we have created a newly-
structured Retail division and brought  
in from outside SSE new members of  
the senior management team. 

We have totally changed the way we 
conduct sales. We aim to make every 
sale open, honest and informed so that 
customers can make the right choice.

There are reports that some  
big businesses in the UK 
are avoiding making a fair 
contribution to the UK Treasury  
in terms of tax contributions. 
What is SSE’s position?

Gregor • SSE disagrees strongly with any 
company that takes an aggressive stance 
in interpreting tax legislation, or uses so-
called ‘tax havens’ as a means of doing 
so. As a UK based and listed company 
operating solely in the UK and Ireland, SSE 
believes it has a responsibility to operate 
within both the letter and spirit of the law 
at all times. While the position varies from 
year to year, according to the 2012 PwC 
Total Tax Contribution survey, SSE ranked 
17th for UK taxes paid, whilst being ranked 
30th in the FTSE by market capitalisation

The energy problem in the UK is 
often described as a ‘trilemma’,  
of competing pressures from  
the challenges of climate change, 
security of supply and energy 
affordability. In the face of  
those competing pressures  
is it possible for SSE to find  
a sustainable balance?

Alistair • The key word here is balance  
and to understand the trade offs that  
occur in order to achieve that balance.  
The UK could provide all of its energy  
more cheaply for a short time through 
fossil fuels but there would be a very 
negative impact on natural resources. 
We also can’t be sure that fossil fuels 
will deliver security of supply given our 
reliance on unpredictable, but increasingly 
competitive and demanding, global 
markets. The country could put all its  
eggs in the renewable basket but it  
cannot generate energy 24/7. Equally,  
the UK could pursue the very expensive 
nuclear option, but even the most ardent 
nuclear supporter is unlikely to claim  
that it is capable of providing all of the 
country’s energy requirements. We – and 
the country as a whole – have to manage 
these competing demands at the same 
time as ensuring the choices for future 
generations are not compromised. 

Gregor • In this competing trilemma  
SSE’s strategy is simple. We will invest 
in the things we know we are good at: 
renewable energy and lower carbon 
thermal generation. The combination  
of these two generating technologies  

is important. Thermal generation provides 
the critical flexibility that enables us to 
make the most of the renewable resources 
when the wind blows, the sun shines or the 
rain falls. We contribute to making energy 
as affordable as possible by pursuing only 
the most economic investment projects at 
the same time as helping our customers 
reduce their overall energy consumption. 

Customers are worried about 
energy bills. How worried  
should they be?

Gregor • The winter gas price for 2012/13 
contributed to the highest-ever financial 
year average price. Because the UK is 
increasingly reliant on gas imports, the 
volatility we have seen in domestic gas 
prices in recent times becomes very 
difficult to avoid. SSE works hard to counter 
this volatility and to secure supplies for 
customers as cheaply and reliably as 
possible – it’s in our interests as well as 
our customers’ that we do this. But the 
underlying structural issues behind price 
spikes show no signs of abating, and  
that means we all have an interest in  
the ongoing political debate that will  
help shape our energy future.

Alistair • I am acutely aware the overall 
cost of energy to our customers is 
becoming an increasing burden on their 
household budgets. Energy affordability 
is a critical issue and we do everything 
we can to avoid price increases, and will 
continue to do so. But the additional costs 
that are borne by the energy customer – 
such as the cost of government-sponsored 
environmental and social schemes – have 
a material impact on their energy bills.  
These costs are part of an obligation placed 
on us by Government and there is nothing 
we can do to avoid it. 

Another issue customers are 
worried about is security of 
supply. Do you believe the UK’s 
current plans for Electricity 
Market Reform will enable 
sufficient investment in electricity 
infrastructure to avoid a security 
of supply crunch in the future?

Ian • We can’t speak on behalf of 
other companies that may or may not 
invest, but given that SSE is the only UK 
headquartered energy utility with such 
a strong and broad focus on the UK 
electricity market, I would suggest that  

Source: SSE plc, Annual Report 2013, p8, 25

SSE’s Finance Director 
responding to a 
question on tax in the 
group’s annual report
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position, the adjusted current tax charge  
is presented in the table below. 

For reasons already stated above, SSE’s 
focus is on adjusted profit before tax* 
and in line with that the adjusted current 
tax charge is the tax measure that best 
reflects underlying performance.

The effective adjusted current tax rate, 
based on adjusted profit before tax*, was 
15.9%, compared with 16.0% in 2011/12, 
on the same basis. The impact of SSE’s 
higher capital expenditure programme 
and the series of UK Corporation Tax rate 
reductions announced in the 2010 and 
subsequent Budgets have had, and will 
continue to have, a positive impact on  
the effective current tax rate. 

The deferred tax balance has been 
remeasured to reflect the latest of the series 
of annual reductions in the UK Corporation 
Tax rate that were announced in the 2010 
Budget, and the deferred tax balances for 
future years will be remeasured as each 
subsequent rate reduction is enacted.

Executive Directors

Responding to sales-related issues  
in Energy Supply
As stated previously (see ‘Focusing on  
the SSE SET of core values’ on page 16), 
it has been agreed that the Executive 
Directors payment earned under the 
Annual Incentive Scheme for 2012/13 
should be reduced by 40% as a result of 
SSE’s previous non-compliance with two 
Standard Conditions of the Electricity  
and Gas Supply Licences. 

This is the second consecutive reduction 
in Annual Incentive Scheme payments 
to Executive Directors as a result of past 
sales-related issues in SSE’s Energy  
Supply business.

The total earnings of SSE’s Executive 
Directors’ in 2012/13 (covering base salary, 

regulated businesses’ share of deficit 
repair contributions in respect of the 
Southern Electric and Scottish Hydro-
Electric schemes would be included in 
price controlled revenue, with an incentive 
around ongoing pension costs.

Tax

Being a responsible tax payer
SSE pays taxes in the United Kingdom and 
the Republic of Ireland, the only states in 
which it has trading operations. Central 
to SSE’s approach to tax is that it should 
be regarded as a responsible tax payer. 
As a consequence, SSE maintains a good 
relationship with HM Revenue & Customs, 
based on trust and cooperation.

SSE strives to manage efficiently its 
total tax liability, and this is achieved 
through operating within the framework 
of legislative reliefs. SSE does not take an 
aggressive stance in its interpretation of tax 
legislation, or use so-called ‘tax havens’ as 
a means of reducing its tax liability. SSE’s 
tax policy is to operate within both the 
letter and spirit of the law at all times.

SSE’s tax paid to the government in the 
UK, including Corporation Tax, Employers’ 
National Insurance Contributions and 
Business Rates, totalled £312.0m during 
the year to 31 March 2013, compared 
with £396.4m in the previous year. In the 
last three financial years, SSE has paid 
£1.0bn in tax on that basis. The reduction  
in total tax paid in 2012/13 is the result of:

 • the timing of Corporation Tax payments 
and a reduction in tax paid to reflect  
tax losses expected to be acquired  
from Greater Gabbard Offshore Winds 
Limited and SSE Renewables Walney (UK) 
Limited for which the consortium relief 
payments have yet to be made; • asset impairments which were 
recognised in the subsidiary accounts  
for 2011/12 on which Corporation Tax 
relief was then recognised in SSE’s  
final tax instalment for that year  
(and which was paid in 2012/13); and  • Corporation Tax refunds received  
during 2012/13 that relate to earlier 
years (on rolled over capital gains and 
losses relief from SGN).

SSE also pays taxes in the Republic of 
Ireland, in relation to its operations there, 
and also indirectly contributed £57.3m to 
UK government tax revenues through its 
significant investment in joint ventures and 
associates. This compares with £59.5m 
in the previous year. SSE also collected 
a further £225.4m of employment, 
environment and other taxes to add  
to its total tax contribution.

In January 2013, PwC has announced the 
result of its UK 2012 Total Tax Contribution 
Survey for The Hundred Group, in which SSE 
ranked 17th for the level of total taxes borne 
(the amount a company pays that are its 
own tax costs).

Setting out SSE’s tax position
To assist the understanding of SSE’s tax 

Tax charge 
 

Mar 13  
£m

Mar 12  
£m

Adjusted current tax charge 223.6 213.4
Add/(less):
Share of JCE/associate tax (25.4) (6.6)
Deferred tax 115.2 118.0
Tax on exceptional items/certain remeasurements (201.8) (319.6)

Reported tax charge 111.6 5.2

SSE pays taxes in the United Kingdom and the Republic of 
Ireland, the only states in which it has trading operations. 
Central to SSE’s approach to tax is that it should be 
regarded as a responsible tax payer. 

While some companies’ tax haven 
subsidiaries may represent legitimate 
domestic operations (for example, real sales 
or services provided commercially to 
consumers in those jurisdictions), tax haven 
subsidiaries are used by some companies in 
aggressive tax practices to shift profits from 
where key economic activity is taking place 
into a lower‑tax jurisdiction. Investors should 
be especially concerned to receive information 
about these subsidiaries.

Source: ActionAid, Tax responsibility an investor guide, p23
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Taxes paid in 2012

3 Our tax strategy and governance
In support of our overall business strategy and objectives, Rio Tinto pursues a tax strategy 
that is principled, transparent and sustainable in the long term. The Group has established 
principles governing its tax strategy which have been reviewed and approved by the board of 
directors. These remain unchanged from previous years and include the following key points:

•   A tax strategy that is aligned with our 
business strategy and conforms with 
our global code of business conduct, 
“The Way We Work”.

•   Commitment to ensure full compliance 
with all statutory obligations, and full 
disclosure to tax authorities.

•   Maintenance of documented policies 
and procedures in relation to tax 
risk management and completion 
of thorough risk assessments before 
entering into any tax planning strategy.

•   Sustaining good relations with tax 
authorities, and actively considering 
the implications of tax planning for the 
Group’s wider corporate reputation.

•   Management of tax affairs in a pro-
active manner that seeks to maximise 
shareholder value, while operating in 
accordance with the law.

Within this governance framework, the 
conduct of the Group’s tax affairs and the 
management of tax risk are delegated 
to a global team of tax professionals. 
Management certifies our adherence 
to these principles to the Rio Tinto 
board of directors on an annual basis. 
The suitability of the tax strategy and 
principles is kept under regular review.

Cape Lambert

There has been increased public and 
press interest in the use of “tax havens” 
by multinational companies in recent 
years. A tax haven is typically thought of 
as a low or no tax country which may also 
have laws that limit the public disclosure 
of information and which may restrict 
the exchange of information with tax 
authorities from other countries.

There can be sound commercial reasons 
for a multinational group to use companies 
located in tax haven territories such as 
where they offer a stable government and 
a clear legal framework. Other reasons 
include beneficial regulatory requirements 
or the provision of a neutral tax territory 
for joint ventures between companies that 
are headquartered in different countries.

Rio Tinto has over 650 subsidiaries 
of which about 20 are incorporated 
in countries which may be considered 
to be tax havens. Of these, several are 
inactive. The remainder are either tax 
resident in the UK, or are subject to the 
UK’s international tax rules and any 
other similar international tax rules. 
The activities of these entities are fully 
disclosed to all relevant tax authorities.

In accordance with our tax strategy, all 
exchanges of goods, property and services 
between companies within the Group are 
conducted on an arm’s length basis.

Transfer pricing between Group companies 
is based on fair market terms and on the 
commercial nature of the transactions. 
Rio Tinto locates certain of its activities 
in the areas of marketing, procurement 
and freight close to external customers, 
suppliers and a relevant skills base, rather 
than at the site of the mine or operating 
site. Centralising activities also delivers 
benefits in the form of economies of scale 
and skill.

Marketing, procurement, freight, debt 
finance, management services and other 
similar services provided to other Group 
companies (related party transactions) 
are charged at an arm’s length price in 
accordance with relevant international tax 
principles and are subject to review and 
audit by the relevant tax authorities.

Where required the tax returns contain 
schedules that provide details of related 
party transactions, and we provide the 
tax authorities all necessary information 
to determine whether to make further 
enquiries on audit.
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“The Way We Work”.

•   Commitment to ensure full compliance 
with all statutory obligations, and full 
disclosure to tax authorities.

•   Maintenance of documented policies 
and procedures in relation to tax 
risk management and completion 
of thorough risk assessments before 
entering into any tax planning strategy.

•   Sustaining good relations with tax 
authorities, and actively considering 
the implications of tax planning for the 
Group’s wider corporate reputation.

•   Management of tax affairs in a pro-
active manner that seeks to maximise 
shareholder value, while operating in 
accordance with the law.

Within this governance framework, the 
conduct of the Group’s tax affairs and the 
management of tax risk are delegated 
to a global team of tax professionals. 
Management certifies our adherence 
to these principles to the Rio Tinto 
board of directors on an annual basis. 
The suitability of the tax strategy and 
principles is kept under regular review.

Cape Lambert

There has been increased public and 
press interest in the use of “tax havens” 
by multinational companies in recent 
years. A tax haven is typically thought of 
as a low or no tax country which may also 
have laws that limit the public disclosure 
of information and which may restrict 
the exchange of information with tax 
authorities from other countries.

There can be sound commercial reasons 
for a multinational group to use companies 
located in tax haven territories such as 
where they offer a stable government and 
a clear legal framework. Other reasons 
include beneficial regulatory requirements 
or the provision of a neutral tax territory 
for joint ventures between companies that 
are headquartered in different countries.

Rio Tinto has over 650 subsidiaries 
of which about 20 are incorporated 
in countries which may be considered 
to be tax havens. Of these, several are 
inactive. The remainder are either tax 
resident in the UK, or are subject to the 
UK’s international tax rules and any 
other similar international tax rules. 
The activities of these entities are fully 
disclosed to all relevant tax authorities.

In accordance with our tax strategy, all 
exchanges of goods, property and services 
between companies within the Group are 
conducted on an arm’s length basis.

Transfer pricing between Group companies 
is based on fair market terms and on the 
commercial nature of the transactions. 
Rio Tinto locates certain of its activities 
in the areas of marketing, procurement 
and freight close to external customers, 
suppliers and a relevant skills base, rather 
than at the site of the mine or operating 
site. Centralising activities also delivers 
benefits in the form of economies of scale 
and skill.

Marketing, procurement, freight, debt 
finance, management services and other 
similar services provided to other Group 
companies (related party transactions) 
are charged at an arm’s length price in 
accordance with relevant international tax 
principles and are subject to review and 
audit by the relevant tax authorities.

Where required the tax returns contain 
schedules that provide details of related 
party transactions, and we provide the 
tax authorities all necessary information 
to determine whether to make further 
enquiries on audit.

Source: Rio Tinto plc, Taxes Paid in 2012, p5

Many of Rio Tinto’s companies in ‘tax havens’ are tax 
resident in the UK
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Barclays was the fourth largest corporate taxpayer in the most

recent PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) survey of the ‘The

Hundred Group’, which includes most of the UK’s largest

companies.

Our profits are taxed at the local tax rate in the country in which

the profits are earned. For example, a significant proportion of

the profits we earned in 2012 were from our operations in the

US and South Africa and were subject to tax in those countries,

respectively, at the local tax rates. In the UK tax system, these

foreign profits generally are not subject to further tax in the UK.

Therefore, the amount of UK corporation tax we paid cannot be

compared against our overall, global statutory profit before tax

of £246m in 2012. We paid £82m of corporation tax to HMRC in

2012, despite incurring a loss in the UK.

Our largest tax payments in the UK relate to irrecoverable VAT.

The figure for social security mainly relates to employer’s

National Insurance contributions.

Tax paid in the UK in 2012

Tax paid in the UK

Tax in offshore financial centres and developing countries

Barclays operates under the laws of low tax jurisdictions for valid business reasons. In many of these jurisdictions, we have substantial

businesses. For example, we operate full-service retail and corporate banking businesses in the Seychelles where we are the largest

retail bank in the country, having operated there for more than 50 years. Our operations in offshore financial centres are based

principally in the Isle of Man, Jersey and Guernsey, where our Wealth and Investment Management division is a long-term major local

employer. The income from these Crown Dependencies represented only 2% of our total income in 2012.

We have historically incorporated businesses under the laws of other jurisdictions, such as the Cayman Islands, because local

corporate law makes it easy and cost-effective to set up and liquidate companies. As at June 2013, we had 113 companies

incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Virtually all of the profits generated in these companies are subject to corporate

tax at the UK corporate tax rate. The total amount of profit not taxed in the UK across all our entities incorporated under Cayman

Islands law was less than £1m in each of 2010, 2011 and 2012. In 2012, 41 Cayman companies were liquidated and 55 were

dissolved.

We have disclosed the nature and scope of these activities to HMRC and any other relevant tax authorities.

Nonetheless, Barclays has been reducing the number of entities it operates in low tax jurisdictions. Since, 2009 we have reduced the

number of these entities by 25% to 253 (as at end of 2012). We plan to make further reductions in 2013.

We make significant tax payments in developing countries, which are often a major contributor to the overall tax revenue in these

countries. For instance, in 2012, we paid taxes of £501m in Africa (including corporate income tax, social security and VAT).

Notes
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9

Unless otherwise stated, ‘tax paid’ refers to ‘cash’ taxes paid to governments in a given period, as opposed to the tax ‘charge’ for that period shown in Barclays’
accounts

Corporate income tax - includes withholding taxes, in accordance with International Accounting Standard 12 (IAS12).

Social security - includes employer national insurance contributions.

Other - includes, for example, property taxes.

Accounted for as deferred tax under IAS12

Based on data in PwC’s Total Tax Contribution survey 2011.

This arises because banks, unlike non-financial services companies, can only recover a small amount of the VAT incurred on the products and services they
buy.

Excludes income earned by companies based in Jersey whose income is taxed in the UK.
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countries. For instance, in 2012, we paid taxes of £501m in Africa (including corporate income tax, social security and VAT).
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compared against our overall, global statutory profit before tax
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2012, despite incurring a loss in the UK.
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tax at the UK corporate tax rate. The total amount of profit not taxed in the UK across all our entities incorporated under Cayman

Islands law was less than £1m in each of 2010, 2011 and 2012. In 2012, 41 Cayman companies were liquidated and 55 were

dissolved.
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Nonetheless, Barclays has been reducing the number of entities it operates in low tax jurisdictions. Since, 2009 we have reduced the
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Therefore, the amount of UK corporation tax we paid cannot be
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employer. The income from these Crown Dependencies represented only 2% of our total income in 2012.
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incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. Virtually all of the profits generated in these companies are subject to corporate

tax at the UK corporate tax rate. The total amount of profit not taxed in the UK across all our entities incorporated under Cayman

Islands law was less than £1m in each of 2010, 2011 and 2012. In 2012, 41 Cayman companies were liquidated and 55 were

dissolved.

We have disclosed the nature and scope of these activities to HMRC and any other relevant tax authorities.

Nonetheless, Barclays has been reducing the number of entities it operates in low tax jurisdictions. Since, 2009 we have reduced the

number of these entities by 25% to 253 (as at end of 2012). We plan to make further reductions in 2013.

We make significant tax payments in developing countries, which are often a major contributor to the overall tax revenue in these
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tax at the UK corporate tax rate. The total amount of profit not taxed in the UK across all our entities incorporated under Cayman

Islands law was less than £1m in each of 2010, 2011 and 2012. In 2012, 41 Cayman companies were liquidated and 55 were

dissolved.

We have disclosed the nature and scope of these activities to HMRC and any other relevant tax authorities.

Nonetheless, Barclays has been reducing the number of entities it operates in low tax jurisdictions. Since, 2009 we have reduced the

number of these entities by 25% to 253 (as at end of 2012). We plan to make further reductions in 2013.
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Barclays talks about how it is reducing the 
number of its companies in the Cayman Islands

Source: Barclays PLC, Citizenship Report 2012, p21



20 PwC – Tax Transparency

Tax numbers and performance
The tax reconciliation – at the heart of explaining your tax position

•	 A tax reconciliation is required by 
IFRS and provides an opportunity 
for companies to explain what is 
driving their tax rate. 

•	 For a number of the accounts 
that we reviewed, we felt that it 
would have been difficult for a 
non‑tax specialist to have fully 
understood what gave rise to the 
key reconciling items.

•	 The clearest tax reconciliations 
that we saw included some of the 
following features:
•	 linked tax adjustments to 

specific business events such as 
disposals of subsidiaries

•	 avoided tax technical or 
accounting language

•	 gave examples of the principal 
type of adjustment in a 
reconciling item

•	 did not net off items such 
as non‑deductible costs and 
non‑taxable income

•	 cross referenced items in the 
tax reconciliation to other 
accounting notes

•	 Under IFRS, the tax reconciliation 
looks only at the overall tax charge 
which includes both current and 
deferred tax, yet many people are 
more interested in the current 
tax charge. We have seen one 
company, Npower, introducing a 
current tax reconciliation in order 
to address this issue.
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additional financial information (continued)

Note

2012
 

 £m

2011 
Restated

£m

current tax  183 89 

deferred tax

– Movement in temporary differences  225 (7)

– Reduction in UK corporate tax rate to 23% (2011: 25%)  7 6 

total deferred tax1  41  232 (1)

adjustment to equity holders tax in respect of prior years  (6) (34)

total tax  409 54 

Less tax attributable to policyholder returns  (174) 178 

tax attributable to equity holders   235 232 

1.  The total movement in deferred tax of £232m disclosed above differs from the amount of £241m disclosed in Note 41 by £9m (2011: £60m) being the deferred tax prior year 
adjustment included within the ‘Adjustment to equity holders’ tax in respect of prior years’ line.

The tax attributable to equity holders differs from the tax calculated at the standard UK corporation tax rate as follows:

2012 

£m

2011 
Restated

£m

Profit before tax attributable to equity holders 1,036 953 

Tax calculated at 24.5% (2011: 26.5%) 254 253 

Effects of:

Adjustments in respect of prior years, mainly relating to resolution of tax issues with HMRC  (6) (34)

Lower tax on Shareholder Retained Capital  (30) (20)

Income not subject to tax, such as dividends  (3) (5)

Change in valuation of tax losses  8 15 

Higher rate of tax on profits taxed overseas  14 11 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (5) 5 

Impact of reduction in UK corporate tax rate to 23% (2011: 25%) on deferred tax balances  7 6 

Differences between taxable and accounting investment gains, e.g. RPI relief  (5) – 

Other  1 1 

tax attributable to equity holders  235 232 

Tax calculated on profit before tax at 24.5% (2011: 26.5%) would amount to £296m (2011: £205m). The difference between this number 
and the total tax of £409m (2011: £54m) is made up of the reconciling items above, which total £(19)m (2011: £(21)m), and the effect of 
the apportionment methodology on tax applicable to policyholder returns of £132m (2011: £(130)m).

 2012 
 %

2011 
%

equity holders’ effective tax rate  22.7 24.4 

Equity holders’ effective tax rate is calculated by dividing the tax attributable to equity holders over profit before tax attributable  
to equity holders.

 
 
deferred tax recognised directly in equity

 2012 

 £m

2011 
 Restated

£m

Relating to net gains or losses recognised directly in equity  (22) (91)

Exchange gains  13 5 

deferred tax recognised directly in equity  (9) (86)
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GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Source: Legal and General Group plc, Annual Report and 
Accounts 2012, p196Legal and General seeks to use everyday language e.g. ‘change 

in valuation of tax losses’ rather than ‘change in deferred tax 
assets’ which we have seen in other tax reconciliations
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Could your tax reconciliation do more to help your stakeholders 
understand your tax position?

Source: RWE Npower, Tax Commentary 2012, p28

The schedule reconciles accounting 
profit to the current tax charge 
rather than the overall tax charge

29 npower Business Energy Index 2011 RWE npower tax commentary 2012 2928 RWE npower tax commentary 2012

• We manage our tax affairs responsibly and transparently. 

•  We don’t bend or exploit the rules, and we don’t use contrived or artificial structures  

to reduce our tax liabilities.

•  We take advantage of the reliefs and incentives that exist but show respect for the 

intention, as well as the letter, of the law at all times. 

•  We actively seek open dialogue with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs (HMRC) in pursuit 

of a professional and constructive working relationship. 

•  We are committed to conducting our affairs in a way that maintains our Low Risk tax 

classification, first awarded to us by HMRC in 2008.  

•  Our tax team is involved in all significant business developments so that we can fully assess 

any potential tax consequences of our actions in advance. 

•  If we find a material tax uncertainty, we seek proportionate external advice from reputable 

professional firms.

•  We never deliberately conceal or knowingly misrepresent issues to HMRC. If we discover 

errors, then we disclose them. 

•  We take an active role in contributing to the UK tax policy-making process, where relevant, 

including by taking part in formal and informal consultations. 

•  We expect our UK Tax Team to maintain enough skilled resources so that we can adhere  

to the principles stated above – without exception.

By responsibly managing our tax affairs in line with all 10 elements of our tax policy,  

we are also fully adhering to the Confederation of British Industry’s seven tax principles.  

Paul Massara     Jens Madrian

GROUP PROFIT AND TAX RECONCILIATION
RWE NPOWER 
STATEMENT OF TAX POLICY 

2012

£m £m

Operating profit under IAS (EBITA) reported in RWE AG accounts 390

Less UK amortisation (71)

Less UK interest expense (114)

Adjust for non-operating profit (loss) not included above

Profit on disposal (50%) of Horizon Nuclear Power Ltd. (HNP) 76

Restructuring and reorganisation costs (28)

Differences between IAS and UK accounting treatments

Pensions 10

Other 6

Exclude 50% share of HNP loss for year 8

RWE npower group UK statutory profit before tax 277

Split as:

Retail 138

Generation 139

Expected current tax on UK statutory profit at 24.5% 68

Adjustments

Capital allowances in excess of accounts depreciation (51)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (mostly goodwill amortisation) 24

Profit on sale of Horizon shares not taxable  
(substantial shareholding exemption)

(19)

Adjustment to tax computed for prior periods 3

Utilisation of brought forward tax losses (domestic gas business) (7)

Actual current tax charge 18

Excludes income from shares in npower subsidiaries

Our tax policy was set by the RWE npower board. The responsibility for implementing  
it rests with our Director of Tax, who reports to the Board on a regular basis and ad hoc  
if the need arises.

Note: Although RWE Npower is not part of the FTSE 
350 and as such is excluded from the BPTA process, 
the company has issued a standalone tax commentary 
that contains some innovative examples of tax 
reporting which merit inclusion in this report.

Refers to the specific 
business event that give 
rise to the adjustment

Details the principal 
item included in the 
reconciling item
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Tax numbers and performance
Countries have different tax systems which leads to different 
tax profiles

•	 Operating in a number of countries 
will affect a business’s effective 
tax rate for several reasons. 
Not only will the countries have 
different tax rates, but they will 
have different tax systems giving 
rise to differences in the tax 
treatment of certain transactions 
and differences in tax incentives. 
In addition they may have different 
accounting rules.

•	 The tax adjustments arising from 
operating in different jurisdictions 
are often significant, and can be 
difficult to explain clearly.

•	 Most companies reconcile their 
tax charge using the statutory tax 
rate in the territory of the ultimate 
parent company, but other 
methods are also available.

•	 A few companies use an average 
weighted tax rate for their tax 
reconciliation that takes account 
of the tax rates in a number of 
different territories. The difficulty 
here is how to calculate the 
weighting – is it by reference to 
local statutory accounting profits, 
or IFRS numbers or some other 
ratio? Whichever method is used, 
it should be clearly stated.

•	 A different and innovative 
approach was used by Prudential 
who have split their tax 
reconciliation by region, thereby 
clearly showing how much of 
the rate is due to statutory rate 
differences and how much is due 
to specific tax adjustments in 
each region.

African Barrick Gold uses a 
weighted average tax rate to 
calculate its theoretical tax charge

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued 

 www.africanbarrickgold.com 118 

11. Tax expense continued 
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to 
the profits of the consolidated entities as follows: 

(in thousands of United States dollars) 

For the 
year ended

31 December
2012

For the 
year ended

31 December
2011

Profit before taxation 119,247 402,701
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in the respective countries 36,849 114,199
Tax effects of: 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes/(non-taxable income) 5,483 (1,219)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 23,660 7,302
Prior year adjustments 8,258 (2,391)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (3,187) 33
Tax charge 71,063 117,924

The tax rate in Tanzania is 30% and in South Africa 28% for both years presented. 

Tax periods remain open to review by the TRA in respect of income taxes for five years following the date of the filing of the corporate tax 
return, during which time the authorities have the right to raise additional tax assessments including penalties and interest. Under certain 
circumstances the reviews may cover longer periods. Because a number of tax periods remain open to review by tax authorities, there is a risk 
that transactions that have not been challenged in the past by the authorities may be challenged by them in the future, and this may result in 
the raising of additional tax assessments plus penalties and interest.  

12. Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted 
average number of Ordinary Shares in issue during the period. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding to assume conversion of all 
dilutive potential Ordinary Shares. The Company has dilutive potential Ordinary Shares in the form of stock options. The weighted average 
number of shares is adjusted for the number of shares granted assuming the exercise of stock options. 

At 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, earnings per share have been calculated as follows:  

(in thousands of United States dollars) 

For the 
year ended

31 December
2012

For the 
year ended

31 December
2011

Earnings   
Net profit from continuing operations attributable to owners of the parent 59,471 274,895
    
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue 410,085,499 410,085,499
Adjusted for dilutive effect of: 
– Stock options – 10,606 
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for diluted earnings per share 410,085,499 410,096,105
  
Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 14.5 67.0
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 14.5 67.0

13. Dividend 
The final dividend declared in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011 of US$53.7 million (US13.1 cents per share) and the 2012 interim 
dividend of US$16.4 million (US4.0 cents per share) were paid during 2012 and recognised in the financial statements. Refer to Note 34 for 
details of the final dividend declared subsequent to year-end. 

  

118 www.africanbarrickgold.com

Source: African Barrick Gold, Annual Report and Accounts 2012, p118
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How well does your tax reconciliation explain the tax impact of 
operating in different jurisdictions?

260 Financial statements Prudential plc Annual Report 2012

F: Income statement notes continued

F5: Tax continued 

iii Reconciliation of eff ective tax rate
The total tax charge is attributable to shareholders and policyholders as summarised in the income statement.

Reconciliation of tax charge on profi t attributable to shareholders for continuing operations:

2012 £m (except for tax rates)

2012

Asia
 insurance

 operations 

US
 insurance

 operations 

UK
 insurance

 operations 
Other

 operations Total

Operating profi t (loss) based on longer-term investment 
returns 913 964 736 (80) 2,533 

Non-operating profi t (loss) 76 (109) 122 188 277 

Profi t before tax attributable to shareholders 989 855 858 108 2,810 

Expected tax rate:* 23% 35% 25% 25% 27%
Tax at the expected tax rate 227 300 210 26 763 
Effects of:

Adjustment to tax charge in relation to prior years (11) 10 (26) (10) (37)
Movements in provisions for open tax matters  – (3)  – 32 29 
Income not taxable or taxable at concessionary rates (87)  –  – (2) (89)
Deductions not allowable for tax purposes 30  –  – 3 33 
Different local basis of tax on overseas profi ts  – (68)  –  – (68)
Impact of changes in local statutory tax rates  –  – (39) 9 (30)
Deferred tax adjustments (6)  – 8 (1) 1 
Irrecoverable withholding taxes  –  –  – 14 14 
Other 5 (5) 8 (11) (3)

Total actual tax charge 158 234 161 60 613 

Analysed into:
Tax on operating profi t based on longer-term 
 investment returns 142 272 126 42 582 
Tax on non-operating profi t 16 (38) 35 18 31 

Actual tax rate:
Operating profi t based on longer-term investment returns 16% 28% 17% (53)% 23%
Total profi t 16% 27% 19% 56% 22%

* The expected tax rates shown in the table above (rounded to the nearest whole percentage) refl ect the corporation tax rates generally applied to taxable 
profi ts of the relevant country jurisdictions. For Asia operations the expected tax rates refl ect the corporation tax rates weighted by reference to the source 
of profi ts of operations contributing to the aggregate business result. The expected tax rate for Other operations refl ects the mix of business between UK and 
overseas non-insurance operations, which are taxed at a variety of rates. The rates will fl uctuate from year to year dependent on the mix of profi ts.

Source: Prudential plc, Annual Report 2012, p260

Movement in the provision for 
open tax matters shown as a 
separate line in the reconciliation

Disclosure of statutory 
tax rates applying in 
each region

Prudential’s tax reconciliation 
is split by the main regions in 
which the group operates
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Tax numbers and performance
Cash tax paid is not the same as the tax charge in the income statement

•	 There is often a considerable 
difference between the tax charge 
in the accounts and the amount of 
tax actually paid in the year. 

•	 Many stakeholders are interested 
in the amount of tax paid as much 
as, if not more than, in the amount 
of tax charged. 

•	 Recent media articles have also 
shown that the reasons for the 
differences between cash tax and 
the tax charge are not always 
well understood.

•	 We have seen a number of 
companies providing explanations 
of the differences between the 
tax charge and the tax paid in 
the period. National Grid uses a 
table to set out its explanation, 
while Legal and General uses a 
bridge diagram.

•	 The Rank Group is the only 
company that we have seen that 
provides both a current and a 
forecast effective tax rate for 
cash tax.

riotinto.com 12

Taxes paid in 2012

6 Tax charged in the financial statements in 2012 (continued)

A reconciliation between the tax payments shown in section 5 and the taxes charged is shown below.

 Corporate  Total tax 
All amounts are US$ millions income tax Other taxes borne

Total included in Group income statement  273 3,347 3,620
Add deferred tax credit included above  4,127 – 4,127
Net payments not accrued in 2012  1,754 207 1,961

Total tax paid in the year  6,154 3,554 9,708

 Corporate  Total tax 
All amounts are US$ millions income tax Other taxes borne

Parent companies and subsidiaries  5,823 3,474 9,297
Non-controlled entities  331 80 411

Total tax paid in the year  6,154 3,554 9,708

Notes:
(i) The analysis between controlled and non-controlled entities is as follows: 

 Corporate    Non- 
 income tax Other tax Total tax Loss controlling 
All amounts are in US$ millions charge charges charge before tax interests Net loss

Parent companies and subsidiaries 429 3,299 3,728 (1,145) (14) (1,560)
Non-controlled entities (156) 48 (108) (1,579) – (1,423)
Discontinued operations – – – (7) – (7)

Total included in Group income statement 273 3,347 3,620 (2,731) (14) (2,990)

(ii) For further information on the calculation of the corporate income tax charge see the tax reconciliation in the ‘Corporate income tax charge’ section of this report at page 13. 
(iii) Tax charges other than corporate income tax do not fluctuate in relation to the profits for the year. 
(iv) ‘Other operations and corporate items’ include project costs and other corporate items. The amount of tax relief on this net expenditure is reduced by taxes borne on projects 

at an early stage of development, before profits are generated. 
(v) All amounts are stated in accordance with the Basis of Preparation set out in Appendix 2 of this report. For details of the method for calculation of the effective total tax rate 

(to which the letters on the table columns refer), see the Basis of Preparation.
(vi) Net earnings represent profit after tax for the period attributable to the owners of the Rio Tinto Group. Earnings of subsidiaries and equity accounted units are stated before finance 

items but after the amortisation of discount related to provisions. Earnings attributed to business units do not include amounts that are excluded in arriving at underlying earnings.

Source: Rio Tinto plc, Taxes Paid in 2012, p12
Rio Tinto reconciles the 
tax charge in the accounts 
to the tax paid in the year
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Do your stakeholders have the information to understand the 
difference between the tax charged and the tax paid?

National Grid shows how 
instalment payments, deferred 
tax and adjustments to prior 
year tax charges affect its UK 
corporation tax payments

The tax charge for the Group as reported in the income 
statement is £624 million (2011/12: £521 million). The UK tax 
charge as per note 5 to the accounts is £332 million (2011/12: 
£175 million) and UK corporation tax paid was £243 million  
(2011/12: £170 million), with the principal differences between  
these two measures as follows:

Years ended  
31 March

Reconciliation of UK total tax charge per accounts  
note 5 to UK corporation tax paid

2013
£m 

2012
£m 

Total UK tax charge per accounts note 5  
(current tax £289 million (2012: £181 million) and 
deferred tax £43 million (2012: £6 million credit)) 332 175

Adjustment for non cash deferred tax items (43) 6

Adjustments for accounts current tax charge relating 
to prior years 17 5

UK current tax charge 306 186

UK corporation tax instalments not payable until 
following year (155) (92)

UK corporation tax instalments of prior years paid in 
current year 92 76

UK corporation tax paid 243 170

Tax losses
We have total unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect 
of losses of £335 million (2011/12: £362 million) of which 
£319 million (2011/12: £353 million) are capital losses in the 
UK. These losses arose as a result of the disposal of certain 
businesses or assets and may be available to offset against 
future capital gains in the UK.

Development of future tax policy
We believe the continued development of a coherent and 
transparent tax policy in the UK is critical to help drive growth 
in the economy. As a result, we are actively contributing to the 
development of tax policy by engaging with government officials 
to promote sustainable investment.

We also contribute to research into the structure of business 
taxation and its economic impact by contributing to the funding 
of the Oxford University Centre for Business Taxation at the 
Saïd Business School.

We are a member of a number of industry groups which 
participate in the development of future tax policy, including the 
Hundred Group, which represents the views of Finance Directors 
of FTSE 100 companies and several other large UK companies 
and of which our Finance Director is Chairman of its Tax 
Committee. This helps to ensure that we are engaged at the 
earliest opportunity on taxation issues which affect our business.

Use of adjusted profit measures
In considering the financial performance of our businesses and 
segments, we analyse each of our primary financial measures of 
operating profit, profit before tax, profit for the year attributable to 
equity shareholders and earnings per share into two components.

The first of these components is referred to as an adjusted profit 
measure, also known as a business performance measure. This 
is the principal measure used by management to assess the 
performance of the underlying business.

Adjusted results exclude exceptional items, remeasurements and 
stranded cost recoveries. These items are reported collectively 
as the second component of the financial measures.

Note 3 on page 111 explains in detail the items which are 
excluded from our adjusted profit measures.

Adjusted profit measures have limitations in their usefulness 
compared with the comparable total profit measures as they 
exclude important elements of our financial performance. 
However, we believe that by presenting our financial performance 
in two components it is easier to read and interpret financial 
performance between periods, as adjusted profit measures are 
more comparable having removed the distorting effect of the 
excluded items. Those items are more clearly understood if 
separately identified and analysed. The presentation of these two 
components of financial performance is additional to, and not a 
substitute for, the comparable total profit measures presented.

Management uses adjusted profit measures as the basis 
for monitoring financial performance and in communicating 
financial performance to investors in external presentations 
and announcements of financial results. Internal financial reports, 
budgets and forecasts are primarily prepared on the basis of 
adjusted profit measures, although planned exceptional items, 
such as significant restructurings, and stranded cost recoveries 
are also reflected in budgets and forecasts. We separately 
monitor and disclose the excluded items as a component 
of our overall financial performance.

Reconciliations of adjusted profit measures to the total profit 
measure, that includes both components can be found on 
page 51.

Exchange rates
Our financial results are reported in sterling. Transactions for 
our US operations are denominated in dollars and so the related 
amounts that are reported in sterling depend on the dollar 
to sterling exchange rate. As the average rate of the dollar 
at $1.57:£1 in 2012/13 was stronger than the average rate of 
$1.60:£1 in 2011/12, the same amount of revenue, adjusted 
operating profit and operating profit in dollars earned in 2011/12 
would have been reported as £150 million, £21 million and 
£22 million higher respectively if earned in 2012/13. In 2010/11, 
the average rate was $1.57:£1; if the revenue, adjusted operating 
profit and operating profit in dollars recognised in 2010/11 was 
earned in 2011/12 it would have been reported as £135 million, 
£21 million and £26 million lower respectively.

The balance sheet has been translated at an exchange rate 
of $1.52:£1 at 31 March 2013 ($1.60:£1 at 31 March 2012).

Strategic Review

www.nationalgrid.comNational Grid plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012/1350

Financial review 
Continued

Source: National Grid plc, Annual Report and 
Accounts 2012/13, p50
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counTRy By  
counTRy AnAlySIS
The total taxes borne and collected  
in 2012 and paid to UK and overseas 
governments amounted to £660m 
(2011: £615m). This comprised UK 
taxes of £561m (2011: £535m) and 
overseas taxes of £99m (2011: £80m). 
For this first time, this year the 
analysis below shows the main taxes 
borne and collected in each of the 
main countries where we operate. 
Taxes borne and collected in Ireland 
are less than £1m (2011: less than £1m) 

transparency and are participating  
in this discussion with Action Aid  
and Transparency International 
Corporate Network amongst others. 
We include information on our UK 
corporation tax paid in 2012 below. 
our success in moving towards 
increased corporate tax transparency 
is reflected in our winning of PwC’s 
‘Building Public Trust’ award for tax 
reporting in the FTSe 100 in 2012.  
The award recognises transparency 
and excellence in corporate reporting. 

and have therefore been included  
in the UK segment. We have not 
included our taxes borne and 
collected by any of our joint 
venture operations. 

cASH TAX ReconcIlIATIon
The chart below provides a summary 
reconciliation between the equity 
holders’ tax charge disclosed in 
the income statement of £235m  
(an effective tax rate of 22.7%) and  
the UK corporation tax paid of £60m, 
in the cash flow statement. 

TAX STRATegy

 We are committed to meeting all  
legal requirements and making  
all appropriate tax payments in  
the territories in which we operate. 
When evaluating tax planning,  
we will also always consider 
the Group’s reputation, brand and 
corporate and social responsibilities.

 We will:
•	   not pursue arrangements  

which are not in line with  
our Group Code of ethics;

•	  avoid tax pitfalls by considering 
tax as part of every major 
business decision and ensuring 
appropriate controls are in  
place to manage our tax risks;

•	  not undertake transactions 
whose sole purpose is to create 
an abusive tax result;

•	  discuss in real-time our 
interpretation of the law with HMRC 
where we pursue tax planning;

•	  include Board-level oversight 
as part of our tax risk 
governance processes;

•	  be transparent in respect of our 
tax affairs and provide disclosure 
in our Annual Report and Accounts 
about our tax approach, tax rate 
and cash tax payments; and

•	  contribute to the development 
of UK tax policy and legislation. 
where appropriate.

annual report and accounts 2012 43

OVERVIEW OUR PROGRESS OUR APPROAchOUR PERfORmAncE fInAncIAl StAtEmEntSGOVERnAncE OthER InfORmAtIOn

68906_L&G_p034-051.indd   43 16/03/2013   03:07

Source: Legal and General Group plc, Annual Report and Accounts 2012, p43

Legal and General 
shows how overseas 
tax, deferred tax and 
instalment payments 
explain the difference 
between the group 
tax charge and the 
UK tax paid 
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Tax numbers and performance
Investors are interested in what your tax rate will do in the future

•	 While financial statements 
generally look back at the last 
year’s performance, many 
investors are interested in what 
a company’s tax rate will do in 
the future.

•	 In some cases they may be able to 
hazard a guess at this by looking 
at the historical tax rate. If so, it 
would often be helpful for them to 
know which tax adjustments are 
one‑off, and which are recurring. 

•	 While many companies disclose 
expected changes in statutory tax 
rates, very few say how this will 
affect their effective tax rate.

•	 In a few cases, companies are 
providing details on how they 
expect their tax rates to perform 
in the future, either by providing 
a forecast effective tax rate, or by 
talking about how the drivers of 
the rate are expected to perform in 
the future. 

•	 As mentioned above, we are only 
aware of the Rank Group providing 
a future effective cash tax rate.

Centrica expects its effective 
tax rate to remain above 
the UK statutory rate Source: Hunting plc, Annual Report 2012, p23

Hunting expects its underlying tax 
rate to reduce to 27% following 
reductions in statutory tax rates in 
its countries of operation
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EBITDA from Continuing Operations
Underlying EBITDA increased to 
£154.3m for 2012 and was £51.8m 
ahead of 2011 largely driven by the full 
year contribution from businesses 
acquired in 2011.

Profit from Continuing Operations
Underlying profit from continuing 
operations increased by £47.8m, from 
£81.0m in 2011 to £128.8m in 2012 
with £35.2m resulting from the year 
on year effect of acquisitions made in 
2011. Operating margins also increased 
from 13% to 16% as a result of the 
improved product mix following the 
2011 acquisitions.

Well Construction’s underlying profit 
from operations was up 60% to £45.7m 
(2011 – £28.5m) driven by the benefit 
of acquisitions and improved trading in 
Premium Connections, Drilling Tools 
and at Hunting Innova. The division’s 
operating margin also improved from 
15% in 2011 to 16%.

In Well Completion, underlying profit 
from operations increased by 80% to 
£74.1m (2011 – £41.2m) predominantly 
due to the full year contribution from 
Hunting Titan, which was acquired in 
September 2011, with the division’s 
margin improving from 13% in 2011  
to 16% in 2012 as a result of this.

In Well Intervention, whilst there was a 
modest increase in revenue, underlying 
profit fell by £1.0m following the 
previously reported issues associated  
with the tighter regulations in the Gulf  
of Mexico which adversely affected the 
results of our Subsea operation.

Amortisation and Exceptional Items 
Intangible asset amortisation charges 
increased from £12.2m in 2011 to £28.1m 
in 2012 due to the full year effect of the 
acquisitions made in 2011.

The following exceptional charges  
arose in the year:
•	 Unwinding of the fair value uplift 

applied to inventory taken on with 
the 2011 acquisitions has resulted in 
a £7.6m charge reflecting acquired 
stock sold in the period. The 
remaining uplift of £2.6m is 
expected to be charged in 2013.

•	 The final charges under employee 
retention schemes put in place as 
part of the 2011 acquisitions were 
incurred in 2012 and totalled £1.1m. 

•	 The Exploration and Production 
division incurred charges of £7.2m 
as a result of £5.2m of impairments  
to its oil and gas capitalised 
expenditures largely due to future 
commodity price expectations and 
dry hole costs of £2.0m.

•	 £1.1m has been credited to the 
income statement reflecting the 
release of amounts provided on the 
Hunting Doffing acquisition for profit 
related earn-outs. 

Reported profit from operations in 2012 
for the Group was £85.9m which was 
£44.9m better than 2011. This increase 
was similar to the underlying improvement 
with amortisation and exceptional items 
relatively consistent year on year.

Taxation
The Group’s underlying tax rate for 2012 
has remained at 28% (2011 – 28%), 
resulting in an underlying tax charge of 

£34.6m (2011 – £22.5m). The tax rate 
reflects the weighting of profits in lower 
tax jurisdictions, together with a reduced 
UK corporate tax rate. The underlying 
tax rate for 2013 is currently expected to 
reduce to 27% as a result of reductions 
in global corporate tax rates in the 
countries where we operate, however, 
the actual rate will be dependent on the 
regional mix of profits.

Amortisation and exceptional items in  
the year attracted tax credits of £16.7m  
to give a net tax charge on continuing 
operations in 2012 of £17.9m (2011 – 
£7.3m).

Net Finance Costs
Net reported finance costs in 2012  
were £6.2m (2011 – £3.2m) increasing  
in line with higher average levels of  
debt following the 2011 acquisition 
programme. 
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EBITDA from Continuing Operations
Underlying EBITDA increased to 
£154.3m for 2012 and was £51.8m 
ahead of 2011 largely driven by the full 
year contribution from businesses 
acquired in 2011.

Profit from Continuing Operations
Underlying profit from continuing 
operations increased by £47.8m, from 
£81.0m in 2011 to £128.8m in 2012 
with £35.2m resulting from the year 
on year effect of acquisitions made in 
2011. Operating margins also increased 
from 13% to 16% as a result of the 
improved product mix following the 
2011 acquisitions.

Well Construction’s underlying profit 
from operations was up 60% to £45.7m 
(2011 – £28.5m) driven by the benefit 
of acquisitions and improved trading in 
Premium Connections, Drilling Tools 
and at Hunting Innova. The division’s 
operating margin also improved from 
15% in 2011 to 16%.

In Well Completion, underlying profit 
from operations increased by 80% to 
£74.1m (2011 – £41.2m) predominantly 
due to the full year contribution from 
Hunting Titan, which was acquired in 
September 2011, with the division’s 
margin improving from 13% in 2011  
to 16% in 2012 as a result of this.

In Well Intervention, whilst there was a 
modest increase in revenue, underlying 
profit fell by £1.0m following the 
previously reported issues associated  
with the tighter regulations in the Gulf  
of Mexico which adversely affected the 
results of our Subsea operation.

Amortisation and Exceptional Items 
Intangible asset amortisation charges 
increased from £12.2m in 2011 to £28.1m 
in 2012 due to the full year effect of the 
acquisitions made in 2011.

The following exceptional charges  
arose in the year:
•	 Unwinding of the fair value uplift 

applied to inventory taken on with 
the 2011 acquisitions has resulted in 
a £7.6m charge reflecting acquired 
stock sold in the period. The 
remaining uplift of £2.6m is 
expected to be charged in 2013.

•	 The final charges under employee 
retention schemes put in place as 
part of the 2011 acquisitions were 
incurred in 2012 and totalled £1.1m. 

•	 The Exploration and Production 
division incurred charges of £7.2m 
as a result of £5.2m of impairments  
to its oil and gas capitalised 
expenditures largely due to future 
commodity price expectations and 
dry hole costs of £2.0m.

•	 £1.1m has been credited to the 
income statement reflecting the 
release of amounts provided on the 
Hunting Doffing acquisition for profit 
related earn-outs. 

Reported profit from operations in 2012 
for the Group was £85.9m which was 
£44.9m better than 2011. This increase 
was similar to the underlying improvement 
with amortisation and exceptional items 
relatively consistent year on year.

Taxation
The Group’s underlying tax rate for 2012 
has remained at 28% (2011 – 28%), 
resulting in an underlying tax charge of 

£34.6m (2011 – £22.5m). The tax rate 
reflects the weighting of profits in lower 
tax jurisdictions, together with a reduced 
UK corporate tax rate. The underlying 
tax rate for 2013 is currently expected to 
reduce to 27% as a result of reductions 
in global corporate tax rates in the 
countries where we operate, however, 
the actual rate will be dependent on the 
regional mix of profits.

Amortisation and exceptional items in  
the year attracted tax credits of £16.7m  
to give a net tax charge on continuing 
operations in 2012 of £17.9m (2011 – 
£7.3m).

Net Finance Costs
Net reported finance costs in 2012  
were £6.2m (2011 – £3.2m) increasing  
in line with higher average levels of  
debt following the 2011 acquisition 
programme. 
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9. Taxation continued 
Certain upstream assets also bear petroleum revenue tax at 50% (2011: 50%). Norwegian upstream profits are taxed at the standard rate of 
28% (2011: 28%) plus a special tax of 50% (2011: 50%) resulting in an aggregate tax rate of 78%. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated 
at the rates prevailing in those respective jurisdictions.  

The UK Government has announced its intention to propose that Parliament reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax to 21% 
by 1 April 2014. At 31 December 2012 a reduction in the rate to 23% had been substantively enacted so the relevant UK deferred tax assets 
and liabilities included in these Financial Statements have been based on that rate. The effect of the additional proposed reduction in the UK 
corporation tax rate by 2014 would be to decrease the net deferred tax liability by £18 million. 

The differences between the total tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation tax 
to the profit before tax are as follows: 

Year ended 31 December 2012 2011

 

Business
performance

£m

Exceptional items 
and certain 

re-measurements
£m

Results for 
the year 

£m

Business 
performance 

£m 

Exceptional items 
and certain 

re-measurements
£m

Results for
the year 

£m

Profit from continuing operations before tax 2,379 63 2,442 2,062 (794) 1,268
Less: share of profits in joint ventures and associates, 
net of interest and taxation (140) 6 (134) (93) 26 (67)
Group profit from continuing operations before tax 2,239 69 2,308 1,969 (768) 1,201
Tax on profit from continuing operations at standard 
UK corporation tax rate of 24.5% (2011: 26.5%) (549) (17) (566) (522) 204 (318)
Effects of:  

Net expenses not deductible for tax purposes (77) (56) (133) (20) – (20)
Movement in unrecognised deferred tax assets   (20) – (20) (28) (31) (59)
UK petroleum revenue tax rates (149) – (149) (128) – (128)
Overseas tax rates (39) (6) (45) (24) 15 (9)
Additional charges applicable to upstream profits (235) (11) (246) (152) (2) (154)
Changes to tax rates 40 (50) (10) 30 (201) (171)
Adjustments in respect of prior years – – – 34 (1) 33

Taxation on profit from continuing operations (1,029) (140) (1,169) (810) (16) (826)
 

Production of gas and oil within the UK continental shelf is subject to several taxes: corporation tax at 30% (2011: 30%) on profits of gas 
and oil production; a supplementary charge at 32% (2011: 32%) on profits of gas and oil production (adjusted for financing costs) 
and petroleum revenue tax (PRT) at 50% (2011: 50%) on income generated from certain gas and oil production (net of certain costs). 

PRT is a deductible expense for the purposes of corporation tax and the supplementary charge. The rate of tax suffered on profits 
of UK gas production therefore falls between 62% and 81% (2011: 62% and 81%). To the extent that the Group’s profits are earned from 
UK gas and oil production, its effective tax rate will remain above the current UK statutory rate of 24% (2011: 26%). 

Income earned in territories outside the UK, notably in the USA and Norway, is generally subject to higher effective rates of tax than 
the current UK statutory rate. In the medium term, the Group’s effective tax rate is expected to remain above the UK statutory rate. 

10. Dividends 
 2012  2011

 £m
Pence per

share
Date of

payment £m 
Pence per

share
Date of

payment

Prior year final dividend  576 11.11 13 Jun 2012 540 10.46 15 Jun 2011
Interim dividend  240 4.62 14 Nov 2012 222 4.29 16 Nov 2011
 816 762 
 

The Directors propose a final dividend of 11.78 pence per ordinary share (totalling £602 million) for the year ended 31 December 2012. The 
dividend will be submitted for formal approval at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 13 May 2013 and, subject to approval, will be paid 
on 12 June 2013 to those shareholders registered on 26 April 2013.

(b) Factors affecting the tax charge 

(c) Factors that may affect future tax charges 

Financial Statements
94 Centrica plc Annual Report and Accounts 2012

Source: Centrica plc, Annual Report and Accounts 2012, p95 
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How much information do your stakeholders have about how 
your tax rate might perform in the future?

Source: SABMiller plc, Annual Report 2013, p39

SABMiller expects that its effective tax 
rate will remain between 27% and 29% 
in the medium term

2013
US$m

2012
US$m

Net fi nance costs 735 562
Mark to market gain on capital 

items 12 2
Exceptional fi nance costs – (22)

Adjusted fi nance costs 747 542

We expect fi nance costs in the 2014 fi nancial 
year to be broadly similar to those in 2013.

Tax
The effective rate of tax for the year (before 
amortisation of intangible assets other than 
computer software and exceptional items) 
was 27.0% compared with a rate of 27.5% in 
the prior year. This change in the rate resulted 
from a combination of factors including:

• a full year’s impact of the Foster’s 
acquisition; 

• the resolution of various uncertain tax 
positions; and

• reductions in corporate income tax rates 
in certain territories.

In the medium term we continue with our 
expectation that the effective tax rate will be 
between 27% and 29%. This is a level which 
we believe is sustainable based on the 
current structure of the group.

The statutory corporate tax charge for the 
year was US$1,201 million, a small increase 
compared with US$1,126 million in the 
prior year. 

Corporate income taxes paid can be 
distorted relative to the annual tax charge 
as a result of the payment of a tax liability 
falling outside the fi nancial year, and because 
of deferred tax accounting treatment. 
Uncertainty of interpretation and application 
of tax law in some jurisdictions also 
contributes to differences between the 
amounts paid and those charged to the 
income statement. The amount of tax paid 
in the year decreased to US$683 million 
from US$893 million in the prior year. 
The reduction was largely as a result of tax 
refunds received in Australia arising from 
the settlement of a longstanding dispute. 
As a result of specifi c Australian legislation 
the tax refunds generated a liability to pay 
an amount back to the Australian Tax Offi ce 
(ATO) which becomes a prepayment of 
future corporate income tax liabilities. 
Approximately US$440 million was paid 
back to the ATO in April 2013. The payment 
will be recovered in future years against tax 
liabilities that arise in Australia. 

Tax revenues play a key role in funding local 
public services and supporting vibrant 
communities. We pay a signifi cant amount of 
tax and in many countries we are one of the 
largest contributors to government income. 
In terms of total taxes borne and collected 
by the group, including excise and indirect 
taxes, these amounted to US$9,900 million 
(2012: US$9,400 million) in the year. The 
composition and divisional analysis is shown 
in charts (f) and (g) respectively.

During the year approximately US$2,500 
million (2012: US$2,500 million) of taxes have 
been paid to African tax authorities (including 
South Africa).

Profi t and earnings
Adjusted profi t before tax improved by 
11% over the prior year to US$5,630 million 
primarily as a result of increased volumes, 
improved revenue per hl refl ecting selective 
price increases and positive sales mix, and 
the inclusion of Foster’s for the whole year. 
On a statutory basis, profi t before tax of 
US$4,712 million was 16% less than the 
prior year due to the inclusion of signifi cant 
exceptional credits arising on transactions 
in the prior year, together with a full year’s 
amortisation of Foster’s and Anadolu Efes’ 
intangible assets. The table below reconciles 
EBITA to adjusted profi t before tax and to 
the statutory profi t before tax.

2013
US$m

2012
US$m

% 
change

EBITA 6,421 5,634 14
Adjusted fi nance costs (747) (542) (38)
Share of associates’ 

and joint ventures’ 
fi nance costs (44) (30) (47)

Adjusted profi t before 
tax 5,630 5,062 11

Exceptional items 
(excluding fi nance 
cost exceptionals) (205) 1,037

Adjustments to fi nance 
costs 12 (20)

Amortisation (483) (264) (84)
Share of associates’ 

and joint ventures’ tax 
and non-controlling 
interests (242) (212) (14)

Profi t before tax 4,712 5,603 (16)

Adjusted earnings increased by 12% to 
US$3,796 million. With the weighted average 
number of basic shares in issue for the year 
of 1,590 million, up slightly from last year’s 
1,583 million, we achieved strong adjusted 
EPS growth in our reporting currency of US 
dollars and also in the currencies in which 
our shares are quoted, as demonstrated in 
the table below.

2013 2012
% 

change

US cents 238.7 214.8 11
UK pence 151.1 134.4 12
South African cents 2,031.3 1,607.0 26

(f) Tax borne and collected 
by category

A

B

C
D

E
F

A Excise 64%
B Other indirect taxes 22%
C Employment taxes 7%
D Taxes on profits 5%
E Tax withheld at source 2%
F Taxes on property 0%

(g) Tax borne and collected 
by region

A

BC

D

F

G

Emerging and developing economies
A Latin America 34%
B Africa 26%
C Europe 9%
D Asia Pacific  4%

Developed economies
E Asia Pacific  10%
F Europe 9%
G North America 8%

E
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Taxation

R ank’s businesses support communities 
throughout Britain, Spain, Belgium,  
Malta and in Alderney by providing 
employment opportunities and paying  

local and national taxes. 
Over the last 18 months, the Group’s  

businesses generated £265.3m (2010: £156.2m)  
for the UK Exchequer (excluding exceptional VAT 
claims detailed below) and local government in  
VAT, gaming taxes, income tax, National Insurance 
contributions and local business rates. This 
represents a 13.1% increase in our monthly tax 
contributions. The broader impact of Rank’s 
operations, including taxes paid by supplier 
companies and the economic consequences  
of providing employment to more than 8,500  
(2010: 8,100) people in the UK, is harder to  
quantify but no less significant. 

Tax strategy
Rank aims to manage and plan its tax affairs in  
the UK and continental Europe with a view to 
reducing the cash tax payable in each jurisdiction 
and minimising the Group effective tax rate,  
while fully complying with relevant legislation. 

The Group tax strategy is regularly reviewed and 
approved by the board and supported by the use of 
appropriate advice from reputable professional firms. 
Where disputes arise over the interpretation and 
application of tax legislation, the Group is 

committed to proactive discussion with the relevant 
authorities as soon as possible and only resorts to 
litigation once all other avenues are exhausted. An 
open dialogue is maintained with HMRC involving 
regular meetings to review tax issues and brief them 
on business issues.

Over the course of the period, Rank has stepped 
up its efforts to conclude several outstanding issues 
with HMRC and overseas tax authorities. This 
escalation has already seen several longstanding 
issues resolved, with the result that Rank has received 
£6.2m of overpaid VAT from HMRC relating to the 
disposal of Rank’s pension scheme. In concluding the 
remaining tax, duty and VAT issues Rank might be 
obliged to make cash payments to HMRC. However, 
Rank is satisfied that it has made adequate provision 
for any payments that might become due in relation 
to these, currently unresolved, tax issues. 

Effective tax rate
The Group’s effective corporation tax rate in 2011/12 
was 26.3% (2010/11: 29.4%) based on a tax charge  
of £16.2m on adjusted profit before taxation and 
exceptionals of £61.5m. This is below the Group’s 
anticipated effective tax rate because of a series of 
prior year adjustments and the reduction in the 
headline rate announced in Budget 2012. The 
effective corporation tax rate for 2012/13 is expected 
to remain around the current level. Further details  
of the taxation charge are provided in note 6.

TAX FACT FILE

We believe Rank has a responsibility to contribute to the communities and 
economies where we are established; this includes the payment of tax. 

UK tax contribution (£m)

265.3
Grand Total

39.0
Bingo Duty

62.2
Casino Duty

12.2
Machine Licences

39.8
Output VAT

32.6
National Insurance contributions

38.3
Income Tax

19.4
Rates

21.8
Corporate Taxes

The Rank Group Plc: Annual report and financial statements 2012
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Cash tax rate
In 2011/12 the Group had an effective cash tax rate 
of 7.8% on adjusted profit following the utilisation  
of brought forward losses and capital allowances.  
The Group is expected to have a cash tax rate of 20% 
to 22% in 2012/13, excluding any tax payable on  
the resolution of a number of legacy issues.

Gaming tax reform

Rank’s position
Since 2010 Rank has urged the Government to create 
a single system of taxation at a single rate on the 
grounds that this proposal delivers on three key 
policy objectives.

Fairness – by removing arbitrary distinctions  
in the taxation of the same gaming products and 
thus ending state aid for online gaming operators;

Responsibility – by creating a tax regime  
which allows adults to gamble in safe, licensed 
premises without penalising the operators of such 
premises; and

Sustainability – by encouraging all operators  
to make a fair contribution to the UK economy  
and by stimulating job creation in the UK,  
through increased investment.

More details of Rank’s position are detailed  
in our paper ‘Responsible Taxation: Fairness, 
Responsibility and Sustainability’ which is  
available at www.rank.com.

In December 2011, Rank set out the detail of our  
case to HM Treasury and DCMS and we continue to 
debate the merits of our proposal with Government. 
Most recently, Rank has supplemented its case for a 
single rate of taxation by drawing the Government’s 
attention to European rules on state aid. There is  
a growing body of case law concerning the 
interpretation of Europe’s state aid rules which show 
that EU Member States must harmonise tax rates 
across competing products to prevent any potential 

distortion of competition. We understand that any 
changes to the betting and gaming tax regime must 
respect these rules.

It is Rank’s belief that, based on the advice of 
leading counsel, the current regime (including the 
proposals the UK Government has announced for 
online operators) fall foul of these rules as they do 
not go far enough to deliver a level playing field.

Gaming tax reform: update

United Kingdom
In Budget 2012, the UK Government released more 
details of two important changes to the taxation  
of betting and gaming products offered to UK 
consumers. Amusement machine income will be 
subject to VAT and AMLD (a fixed fee charged on 
each gaming machine offered to consumers ) until  
1 February 2013. From 1 February 2013, the current 
system will be replaced by Machine Games Duty 
(‘MGD’). Two rates of MGD will be charged on 
amusement machine income, 20% (for machines 
with a stake of more than 10p or a prize over £8)  
or 5% (for low stake and prize machines) of each 
machine’s gross profits. An exemption from MGD  
is available for a small number of Mecca machines.

The second change affects online gaming 
operators, including Rank Interactive. At present, 
betting and gaming taxes are only due from 
operators located in the UK. Budget 2012 announced 
a change in the basis of the UK’s tax system so that, 
from 1 December 2014, tax becomes due on any 
gambling revenue generated from consumers in the 
UK. It has been suggested that the current rate of 
remote gaming duty (at 15% of gross profits) will be 
applied across all online gaming operators’ income.

Rank’s submission to HM Treasury and the 
responses to the consultations referred to above  
are available from www.rank.com.

Constant tinkering has made the tax 
system increasingly complicated, 

discouraging investment.

Rt. Hon. George Osborne MP  
Chancellor of the Exchequer

Source: The Rank Group plc, Annual Report and Financial 
statements 2012, p54

Source: The Rank Group plc, Annual Report and Financial 
statements 2012, p53

The Rank Group expects its effective corporation 
tax rate to remain unchanged

The Rank Group provides a current and a forecast 
effective cash tax rate
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Total Tax Contribution and the wider impact of tax
Tax is complicated and often poorly explained

•	 The recent attention given 
to tax matters in the media 
has highlighted how 
complicated tax systems can 
be, especially when applied to 
multinational enterprises.

•	 Given this level of complexity, 
it is not surprising that many 
people struggle to understand the 
fundamental principles behind 
corporate taxation.

•	 There is an onus on businesses to 
explain taxation to a wider group 
of stakeholders and we are seeing 
more companies doing just that.

•	 To the tax professional this 
may seem to add little to the 
disclosure, but, along with the 
CBI’s publication on misunderstood 
tax concepts, this can be helpful 
in increasing the public’s 
understanding of tax affairs.

•	 Vodafone and Npower provide 
detailed and clear explanations of 
certain aspects of tax systems.

Source: Vodafone Group plc, Sustainability 
Report 2012/13, p66

Vodafone discusses the territorial 
nature of corporate income tax

Vision and approach Transformational solutions Operating responsibly

66  Vodafone Group Plc Sustainability Report 2012/13

Tax and our total contribution to 
public finances
The amount of tax paid by large companies is a matter of 
significant public debate and scrutiny.

Individuals and companies have legal obligations to pay tax; 
but those obligations do not extend to paying more than the 
amount legally required. Companies also have a legal obligation 
to act in the interests of their shareholders. Vodafone’s 
shareholders include many of the investment funds relied upon 
by tens of millions of individual pensioners and savers.

At the same time, individuals and companies must meet their 
responsibilities to contribute to the funding of public services 
and infrastructure, without which societies cannot operate 
effectively.

Achieving a transparent and effective balance between 
those obligations and responsibilities is therefore integral to 
operating sustainably.

Understanding tax

When considering a company’s tax contributions, there are 
several important factors to take into account.

•  In many countries and for many companies, corporation tax 
payments only account for a small proportion of businesses’ 
total tax contribution to national governments. For example, 
corporation tax accounts for around one-tenth of total tax 
paid to the UK Exchequer and one-third of total taxes paid 
to the UK Exchequer by the UK’s largest 100 companies1. 
Businesses also pay a very wide variety of additional taxes: 
as the Appendix demonstrates, corporation tax is only one 
of almost 50 different types of taxation paid by Vodafone’s 
operating businesses every year

•  Corporation tax is paid on profits, not on revenues. If a 
company makes little or no profit – for example, as a 
consequence of declining sales, competitive market 
conditions or a period of intense capital investment, 
particularly if funded through borrowing, it will generally incur 
lower tax charges than another similar company with higher 
profits. This approach is common to all countries as without 
it, companies enduring periods of low profitability would 
be faced with disproportionate tax demands and significant 
disincentives for investment in infrastructure. In a number of 
Vodafone’s markets, including the UK, the cost of acquiring 
radio spectrum from the government, high operating costs, 
substantial levels of capital expenditure and sustained 
competitive and regulatory pressures have a significantly 
negative effect on the profits of our local businesses. In 
addition, in some markets, other taxes that are levied on 
revenue (together with non-taxation-based contributions 
such as spectrum fees) have the effect of depressing profit 
and so reducing corporation tax liabilities

•  Taxation is local. Taxes generally fall due wherever profits 
are generated, and the tax liabilities that arise as a result are 
decided under the rules of the country that is host to the 
business in question. So, for example, a company operating 
in South Africa pays taxes to the South African government 
under tax rules determined by that country’s government; 
and a company operating in Italy pays taxes under Italian rules 
to the Italian government. Vodafone pays all taxes due under 
the law in all our countries of operation: in 2011/12, these 
amounted to more than £3 billion. For further details, see 
‘Multinationals, governments and tax’

•  Taxation is not the only route used by governments to raise 
revenue from businesses. Governments also use other 
mechanisms to derive revenues from business activities, 
including a wide range of licensing regimes, revenue or 
production-sharing agreements and, for communications 
companies, radio spectrum fees and auction proceeds. 
Those additional sources of government revenue are often 
substantial – sometimes exceeding the monies raised 
through taxation – and represent a critically important 

£11.1 billion
In 2011/12, Vodafone contributed more than £11.1 billion 
in cash to the public finances in our countries of operation.

Vision and approach Transformational solutions Operating responsibly
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Vodafone explains how profitability 
affects the amount of corporate 
income tax charged
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Could users of your accounts benefit from having a better 
understanding of how tax works?

19 npower Business Energy Index 2011 RWE npower tax commentary 2012 1918 RWE npower tax commentary 2012

CAPITAL ALLOWANCES

The cost of a capital asset, when it’s being used in 

a business over a period of time, can be spread over 

the expected period of its use before it wears out. 

This is known as depreciation. Capital allowances 

give businesses a type of tax relief that’s broadly 

equivalent to depreciation, because depreciation 

itself is not an allowable UK tax deduction. 

Capital allowances are available on some but not all of 

a business’s assets. The assets that do or don’t qualify 

have changed over time, but recently we’ve seen moves 

towards removing tax relief for assets and/or reducing 

the rates of relief altogether.

Nevertheless, for some capital intensive businesses 

(those that need to invest heavily to operate 

effectively), capital allowances can provide a temporary 

benefit when the tax relief on an investment starts out 

being larger than the accounting depreciation. 

The result is that taxable profits can initially be lower 

than ‘expected’. Npower saw this happen in 2009-

2011. This example shows how timing can impact on 

the differences between taxable profits and accounting 

profits (the figures are simplified). 

Example 

An existing energy company builds a new power station 

costing £1 billion. It is depreciated in the company’s 

accounts over a 20 year period (£50m each year, 

for 20 years, equals £1 billion). 

We’ll assume that the capital allowance rate is 15%, 

which is the simple average of two rates that were 

available (10% and 20%) up to March 2012. 

This percentage is applied to what’s known as the 

unrelieved balance of expenditure each year. As an 

example, in year 6, capital allowances are (15% x Year 5 

closing tax value of £444m) £67m.

This shows how taxable profits are initially lower than 

reported accounting profits, with the result that less tax 

is payable than expected. 

But something that isn’t usually as widely reported 

perhaps, is that in Year 8 onwards (as shown in this 

example) the difference then reverses so that more tax 

is payable than expected. 

Over the life of the asset then, the total capital 

allowances will equal the total depreciation. Claiming 

capital allowances doesn’t avoid tax - it just delays it.

Cross-party support exists for the role capital allowances can play  

to encourage real investment in the UK. 

Conservative - May 2013

“Let me make one point clear. When we bring in a tax relief we want 

companies to use those tax reliefs. They are entirely legitimate, they are 

entirely legal, and they shouldn’t – as is sometimes the case – be confused 

with tax avoidance.”

Exchequer Sec to the Treasury, David Gauke MP

Oxford Centre for Business Taxation and Centre for Corporate Reputation 

Conference in London.

Labour - May 2013

“Sometimes there will be good reasons why companies pay little tax - 

some companies invest large sums in research and development, assets 

and infrastructure. We want that real investment here in Britain and we 

should encourage it, even when it temporarily reduces the tax those 

companies pay.” 

Corporate Tax Transparency and Reform

Liberal Democrats - May 2013

“The capital allowances are there to give tax advantages to companies 

who are making that investment. So I think it is important, whilst I 

completely agree with you we need transparency, we need to make sure 

that all companies - not just energy companies - pay the tax they should 

pay, if we also want to promote investment and encourage investment, 

when a company uses capital allowances, as Parliament wanted them 

to do, I don’t think they should be criticised for that.” 

Ed Davey, MP

Evidence given to the Energy and Climate Change Committee.

POLITICIANS’ VIEWS 

Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 15 20

Accounts value of  
power station (start of year)

0 950 900 850 800 750 700 650 600 550 300 50

Expenditure in year 1000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation in year -50 -50 -50 -50 -50 -50 -50 -50 -50 -50 -50 -50

Accounts value (end of year) 950 900 850 800 750 700 650 600 550 500 250 0

Capital allowances 150 128 108 92 78 67 57 48 41 35 15 7

Tax value (end of year) 850 723 614 522 444 377 321 272 232 197 87 39

Tax profit (lower)/higher 
than accounts profit by:

-100 -78 -58 -42 -28 -17 -7 2 9 15 35 43

Source: RWE Npower, Tax Commentary 2012, p18

Npower explains 
how capital 
allowances work, 
including a 
worked example 
showing how 
accounting 
depreciation 
and capital 
allowances 
unwind over time



30 PwC – Tax Transparency

Total Tax Contribution and the wider impact of tax
The pressure to report tax on a country‑by‑county basis is growing

•	 As discussed earlier, there has 
been a lot of change in the last year 
in the rules that require certain 
companies to report the tax they 
pay on a country‑by‑country basis.

•	 A number of companies, 
particularly in the extractive 
sector, have been voluntarily 
reporting taxes paid on a 
country‑by‑country basis for a 
number of years.

•	 Rio Tinto has one of the most 
detailed disclosures as it reports 
taxes paid down to the level of 
local government.

•	 Legal and General’s 
country‑by‑country reporting is 
set out in graphical form showing 
the Total Tax Contribution in 
each country.

Rio Tinto shows taxes paid split 
between different levels of government

Source: Rio Tinto plc, Taxes Paid in 2012, p8

riotinto.com 8

Taxes paid in 2012

5 Our tax payments in 2012 (continued)

   Employer Other Total tax Employee Total 
Country and level of government Corporate Government payroll taxes and payments payroll taxes 
(US$ millions) income tax royalties taxes payments borne taxes paid

USA Federal 64 – 34 – 98 113 211 
Utah Government 7 16 1 33 57 14 71
Salt Lake County (UT) – – – 61 61 – 61 
California Government 5 – 1 5 11 4 15 
Kern County (CA) – – – 6 6 – 6 
Marquette County (MI) – – – 3 3 – 3 
Arizona Government – – – 1 1 1 2 
Kentucky Government – – – 2 2 – 2 
Colorado Government – – – – – 1 1 
Michigan Government 1 – – – 1 – 1 
Los Angeles County (CA) – – – 1 1 – 1 
Henderson County (KY) – – – 1 1 – 1 
Other US Government – – – – – 1 1 

USA Total 77 16 36 113 242 134 376 

Chile National 306 – – 10 316 15 331 

Chile Total 306 – – 10 316 15 331

Mongolia National – – 18 244 262 3 265 
Umnugobi Aimag – – – – – 6 6 
Ulaanbataar City – – – – – 5 5 
Khanbogd Sum – – – 4 4 – 4 

Mongolia Total – – 18 248 266 14 280 

South Africa National 96 20 2 1 119 37 156 

South Africa Total 96 20 2 1 119 37 156

UK National 6 – 23 19 48 88 136 
Northumberland County Council – – – 6 6 – 6 
Westminster City Council – – – 5 5 – 5 
Highland Council of Scotland – – – 3 3 – 3 

UK Total 6 – 23 33 62 88 150 

France National 3 – 78 18 99 25 124 
Rhône-Alpes – – – 6 6 – 6 
Nord – – – 4 4 – 4 
Ile-De-France – – – 1 1 – 1 
Other Regions – – – 5 5 – 5 

France Total 3 – 78 34 115 25 140 

riotinto.com 8

Taxes paid in 2012

5 Our tax payments in 2012 (continued)

   Employer Other Total tax Employee Total 
Country and level of government Corporate Government payroll taxes and payments payroll taxes 
(US$ millions) income tax royalties taxes payments borne taxes paid

USA Federal 64 – 34 – 98 113 211 
Utah Government 7 16 1 33 57 14 71
Salt Lake County (UT) – – – 61 61 – 61 
California Government 5 – 1 5 11 4 15 
Kern County (CA) – – – 6 6 – 6 
Marquette County (MI) – – – 3 3 – 3 
Arizona Government – – – 1 1 1 2 
Kentucky Government – – – 2 2 – 2 
Colorado Government – – – – – 1 1 
Michigan Government 1 – – – 1 – 1 
Los Angeles County (CA) – – – 1 1 – 1 
Henderson County (KY) – – – 1 1 – 1 
Other US Government – – – – – 1 1 

USA Total 77 16 36 113 242 134 376 

Chile National 306 – – 10 316 15 331 

Chile Total 306 – – 10 316 15 331

Mongolia National – – 18 244 262 3 265 
Umnugobi Aimag – – – – – 6 6 
Ulaanbataar City – – – – – 5 5 
Khanbogd Sum – – – 4 4 – 4 

Mongolia Total – – 18 248 266 14 280 

South Africa National 96 20 2 1 119 37 156 

South Africa Total 96 20 2 1 119 37 156

UK National 6 – 23 19 48 88 136 
Northumberland County Council – – – 6 6 – 6 
Westminster City Council – – – 5 5 – 5 
Highland Council of Scotland – – – 3 3 – 3 

UK Total 6 – 23 33 62 88 150 

France National 3 – 78 18 99 25 124 
Rhône-Alpes – – – 6 6 – 6 
Nord – – – 4 4 – 4 
Ile-De-France – – – 1 1 – 1 
Other Regions – – – 5 5 – 5 

France Total 3 – 78 34 115 25 140 

Source: Anglo American plc, Sustainable Development Report 2012, p77

Taxes paid directly to government by category and country $ million

South 
Africa Chile Australia UK Brazil Venezuela Peru Zimbabwe Namibia Canada Other Total

Profits 912 405 28 11 50 14 0 0 25 -19 12 1,438
Transactions 50 6 5 1 112 4 0 3 1 0 0 182

Labour 9 33 115 52 37 1 1 0 0 8 1 257
Royalties and environmental 177 61 256 80 26 5 0 10 15 0 0 630

Capital gains 0 1,016 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,016

Other 2 6 27 3 6 0 0 0 0 1 0 45

Total borne 1,150 1,527 431 147 231 24 1 13 41 -10 13 3,568
Total collected 581 97 173 247 115 0 2 1 5 30 12 1,263

Total 1,731 1,624 604 394 346 24 3 14 46 20 25 4,831

Notes: 
Taxes borne reflects Anglo American Group income statement charges in respect of controlled operations for 2012, excluding the effect of deferred tax.  
Taxes collected by Anglo American and remitted to government include payroll taxes and VAT. Further tax data can be found in the Anglo American Annual Report 2012 and at www.angloamerican.com

Taxes generated over the life of a mine

Stage in life of mine Profitability Value add through taxes

Exploration
(e.g. Sakatti in Finland)

Operating and capital expenditure Money spent with suppliers, generating sales taxes, and import duties. 
Employment taxes are also generated

Development
(e.g. Quellaveco in Peru)

Operating and significant capital expenditure Very significant amounts are spent with suppliers in developing the  
mine and infrastructure, generating sales taxes and import duties.  
Those supplier companies will in turn pay taxes on the profits generated 
supporting the Anglo American operations. Increasing levels of 
employment taxes are also generated, as well as payments being  
made to contractors

Early production
(e.g. Kolomela in South Africa)

Recovery of investment Many mining tax regimes include a royalty based on production volumes 
or values, and so these revenues will start to flow to government even 
before the operation has made any profit. Employment taxes are also 
generated, as well as payments being made to contractors

Full production
(e.g. Dawson in Australia)

Net profit Corporate income tax will start to be paid at a time depending on how the 
tax regime allows companies to recover the cost of developing the mine. 
Royalties and employment taxes continue to be generated, as well as 
payments being made to contractors

Closedown Closure and rehabilitation costs Significant amounts are spent with local and international suppliers in 
closing down the mine and rehabilitating the land, generating sales taxes 
and import duties

Notes to the data:
All data include divested/previously managed businesses, up until the point of divestment. Businesses divested during 2012 included Scaw Metals (end-November) and Tarmac Middle East  
and Tarmac Building Products (end-December). Loma de Níquel ceased reporting at the end of October after its mining license was not renewed. Business divested in 2011 were: Lisheen zinc  
and lead mine, Ireland (end–January); Yang quarry, China (end-July); Tarmac, Turkey (end-August); and Tarmac, Romania (end-October).

Data from all managed businesses, whether wholly owned by Anglo American or not, are accounted for on a 100% basis. Proportional contributions from independently managed investments  
are not accounted for.

De Beers, which was formally an independently managed associate, became a managed entity within Anglo American in August 2012. De Beers data for September to December 2012 has been  
included in CSI and Value Added figures, but not for safety, health, environment, and human resources owing to material differences in calculation methodologies. De Beers data for September  
to December 2012 has been included separately in this section.

 Anglo American plc Sustainable Development Report 2012 77

D
ata and assurance

Anglo American provides a summary of tax paid 
by country showing taxes borne and collected
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Should you disclose the size of the contribution you make 
in each of the countries where you operate?

Source: Legal and General Group plc, Annual Report and Accounts 2012, p43

UK USA LGN LGF

£561m £23m £29m £47m

 Profits taxes borne
 Other taxes borne 

 (property taxes, VAT, social security)
 PAYE collected from annuitants
 Other taxes collected 

 (Payroll, Premium, VAT)

country by country analysis of total tax contribution
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Reconciliation of tax charge in income statement to UK tax 
paid in the cash flow statement

Equity holders' 
Tax in Income 

Statement

Accounting 
adjustments 

including 
deferred tax

2012 tax 
instalments 

payable 
in 2013

2011 tax 
instalments 
paid in 2012

UK Tax paid per 
consolidated 

cash flow 
statement

Overseas 
tax

counTRy By  
counTRy AnAlySIS
The total taxes borne and collected  
in 2012 and paid to UK and overseas 
governments amounted to £660m 
(2011: £615m). This comprised UK 
taxes of £561m (2011: £535m) and 
overseas taxes of £99m (2011: £80m). 
For this first time, this year the 
analysis below shows the main taxes 
borne and collected in each of the 
main countries where we operate. 
Taxes borne and collected in Ireland 
are less than £1m (2011: less than £1m) 

transparency and are participating  
in this discussion with Action Aid  
and Transparency International 
Corporate Network amongst others. 
We include information on our UK 
corporation tax paid in 2012 below. 
our success in moving towards 
increased corporate tax transparency 
is reflected in our winning of PwC’s 
‘Building Public Trust’ award for tax 
reporting in the FTSe 100 in 2012.  
The award recognises transparency 
and excellence in corporate reporting. 

and have therefore been included  
in the UK segment. We have not 
included our taxes borne and 
collected by any of our joint 
venture operations. 

cASH TAX ReconcIlIATIon
The chart below provides a summary 
reconciliation between the equity 
holders’ tax charge disclosed in 
the income statement of £235m  
(an effective tax rate of 22.7%) and  
the UK corporation tax paid of £60m, 
in the cash flow statement. 

TAX STRATegy

 We are committed to meeting all  
legal requirements and making  
all appropriate tax payments in  
the territories in which we operate. 
When evaluating tax planning,  
we will also always consider 
the Group’s reputation, brand and 
corporate and social responsibilities.

 We will:
•	   not pursue arrangements  

which are not in line with  
our Group Code of ethics;

•	  avoid tax pitfalls by considering 
tax as part of every major 
business decision and ensuring 
appropriate controls are in  
place to manage our tax risks;

•	  not undertake transactions 
whose sole purpose is to create 
an abusive tax result;

•	  discuss in real-time our 
interpretation of the law with HMRC 
where we pursue tax planning;

•	  include Board-level oversight 
as part of our tax risk 
governance processes;

•	  be transparent in respect of our 
tax affairs and provide disclosure 
in our Annual Report and Accounts 
about our tax approach, tax rate 
and cash tax payments; and

•	  contribute to the development 
of UK tax policy and legislation. 
where appropriate.

annual report and accounts 2012 43

OVERVIEW OUR PROGRESS OUR APPROAchOUR PERfORmAncE fInAncIAl StAtEmEntSGOVERnAncE OthER InfORmAtIOn

68906_L&G_p034-051.indd   43 16/03/2013   03:07
Legal and General discloses 
its Total Tax Contribution 
analysed by country
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Total Tax Contribution and the wider impact of tax
For many businesses, corporate income tax is not the biggest 
tax they bear

•	 Tax reporting in financial 
statements focusses on corporate 
income taxes and other taxes on 
profit which appear in the tax line 
in the income statement.

•	 All companies however are subject 
to other taxes and some companies 
suffer industry specific taxes that 
are far more significant for them 
than corporate income tax.

•	 Some companies provide 
considerable detail about the 
sector specific taxes that affect 
them. The Rank Group, for 
example, explains the company’s 
position on gambling and betting 
taxes and also shows the amount 
of these taxes that it pays.

•	 Pennon Group highlights the 
impact of landfill tax on the 
group’s profit before tax.

•	 The extractive sector is subject to 
a range of taxes, fees and other 
payments to government and 
African Barrick Gold discusses 
how it manages these taxes and 
shows the total amounts that 
it pays.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT:

The Rank Group Plc: Annual report and financial statements 2012
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Taxation

R ank’s businesses support communities 
throughout Britain, Spain, Belgium,  
Malta and in Alderney by providing 
employment opportunities and paying  

local and national taxes. 
Over the last 18 months, the Group’s  

businesses generated £265.3m (2010: £156.2m)  
for the UK Exchequer (excluding exceptional VAT 
claims detailed below) and local government in  
VAT, gaming taxes, income tax, National Insurance 
contributions and local business rates. This 
represents a 13.1% increase in our monthly tax 
contributions. The broader impact of Rank’s 
operations, including taxes paid by supplier 
companies and the economic consequences  
of providing employment to more than 8,500  
(2010: 8,100) people in the UK, is harder to  
quantify but no less significant. 

Tax strategy
Rank aims to manage and plan its tax affairs in  
the UK and continental Europe with a view to 
reducing the cash tax payable in each jurisdiction 
and minimising the Group effective tax rate,  
while fully complying with relevant legislation. 

The Group tax strategy is regularly reviewed and 
approved by the board and supported by the use of 
appropriate advice from reputable professional firms. 
Where disputes arise over the interpretation and 
application of tax legislation, the Group is 

committed to proactive discussion with the relevant 
authorities as soon as possible and only resorts to 
litigation once all other avenues are exhausted. An 
open dialogue is maintained with HMRC involving 
regular meetings to review tax issues and brief them 
on business issues.

Over the course of the period, Rank has stepped 
up its efforts to conclude several outstanding issues 
with HMRC and overseas tax authorities. This 
escalation has already seen several longstanding 
issues resolved, with the result that Rank has received 
£6.2m of overpaid VAT from HMRC relating to the 
disposal of Rank’s pension scheme. In concluding the 
remaining tax, duty and VAT issues Rank might be 
obliged to make cash payments to HMRC. However, 
Rank is satisfied that it has made adequate provision 
for any payments that might become due in relation 
to these, currently unresolved, tax issues. 

Effective tax rate
The Group’s effective corporation tax rate in 2011/12 
was 26.3% (2010/11: 29.4%) based on a tax charge  
of £16.2m on adjusted profit before taxation and 
exceptionals of £61.5m. This is below the Group’s 
anticipated effective tax rate because of a series of 
prior year adjustments and the reduction in the 
headline rate announced in Budget 2012. The 
effective corporation tax rate for 2012/13 is expected 
to remain around the current level. Further details  
of the taxation charge are provided in note 6.

TAX FACT FILE

We believe Rank has a responsibility to contribute to the communities and 
economies where we are established; this includes the payment of tax. 

UK tax contribution (£m)

265.3
Grand Total

39.0
Bingo Duty

62.2
Casino Duty

12.2
Machine Licences

39.8
Output VAT

32.6
National Insurance contributions

38.3
Income Tax

19.4
Rates

21.8
Corporate Taxes
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT: 
TAX FACT FILE CONTINUED

Cash tax rate
In 2011/12 the Group had an effective cash tax rate 
of 7.8% on adjusted profit following the utilisation  
of brought forward losses and capital allowances.  
The Group is expected to have a cash tax rate of 20% 
to 22% in 2012/13, excluding any tax payable on  
the resolution of a number of legacy issues.

Gaming tax reform

Rank’s position
Since 2010 Rank has urged the Government to create 
a single system of taxation at a single rate on the 
grounds that this proposal delivers on three key 
policy objectives.

Fairness – by removing arbitrary distinctions  
in the taxation of the same gaming products and 
thus ending state aid for online gaming operators;

Responsibility – by creating a tax regime  
which allows adults to gamble in safe, licensed 
premises without penalising the operators of such 
premises; and

Sustainability – by encouraging all operators  
to make a fair contribution to the UK economy  
and by stimulating job creation in the UK,  
through increased investment.

More details of Rank’s position are detailed  
in our paper ‘Responsible Taxation: Fairness, 
Responsibility and Sustainability’ which is  
available at www.rank.com.

In December 2011, Rank set out the detail of our  
case to HM Treasury and DCMS and we continue to 
debate the merits of our proposal with Government. 
Most recently, Rank has supplemented its case for a 
single rate of taxation by drawing the Government’s 
attention to European rules on state aid. There is  
a growing body of case law concerning the 
interpretation of Europe’s state aid rules which show 
that EU Member States must harmonise tax rates 
across competing products to prevent any potential 

distortion of competition. We understand that any 
changes to the betting and gaming tax regime must 
respect these rules.

It is Rank’s belief that, based on the advice of 
leading counsel, the current regime (including the 
proposals the UK Government has announced for 
online operators) fall foul of these rules as they do 
not go far enough to deliver a level playing field.

Gaming tax reform: update

United Kingdom
In Budget 2012, the UK Government released more 
details of two important changes to the taxation  
of betting and gaming products offered to UK 
consumers. Amusement machine income will be 
subject to VAT and AMLD (a fixed fee charged on 
each gaming machine offered to consumers ) until  
1 February 2013. From 1 February 2013, the current 
system will be replaced by Machine Games Duty 
(‘MGD’). Two rates of MGD will be charged on 
amusement machine income, 20% (for machines 
with a stake of more than 10p or a prize over £8)  
or 5% (for low stake and prize machines) of each 
machine’s gross profits. An exemption from MGD  
is available for a small number of Mecca machines.

The second change affects online gaming 
operators, including Rank Interactive. At present, 
betting and gaming taxes are only due from 
operators located in the UK. Budget 2012 announced 
a change in the basis of the UK’s tax system so that, 
from 1 December 2014, tax becomes due on any 
gambling revenue generated from consumers in the 
UK. It has been suggested that the current rate of 
remote gaming duty (at 15% of gross profits) will be 
applied across all online gaming operators’ income.

Rank’s submission to HM Treasury and the 
responses to the consultations referred to above  
are available from www.rank.com.

Constant tinkering has made the tax 
system increasingly complicated, 

discouraging investment.

Rt. Hon. George Osborne MP  
Chancellor of the Exchequer

Source: The Rank Group plc, Annual Report 
and Financial Statements 2012, p52, 53

The Rank Group explains 
its position on the taxation 
of the betting industry

The Rank Group discloses 
the amount of gambling 
taxes paid in the year
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Should you be talking about all the taxes that significantly 
affect your business?

Source: Pennon Group Plc, Annual Report 2013, p34,35

Pennon Group discloses the impact of 
landfill tax on its profit before tax

Directors’ report - Business review - Group

Continued
Financial review

Capital structure – overall position 
At the end of the financial year the Group’s 
net debt of £2,009 million gave a gearing 
ratio of net debt to (equity plus net debt) 
of 65.4% at 31 March 2013 (2012 71.9%) 
with the reduction attributable to the £300 
million hybrid capital issuance. 

South West Water’s debt to Regulatory 
Capital Value (RCV) was 55% at 31 March 
2013 (2012 56%) which compares to Ofwat’s 
optimum range of 55% – 65%. 

Viridor is funded by a combination 
of Pennon Group equity and debt (raised 
by Pennon Group) and direct borrowing 
by Viridor. At the year end Viridor’s net 
debt was £676 million (2012 £517 million) 
equivalent to 8.7 times EBITDA (2012 4.7 
times). During the year Viridor’s equity base 
was increased by £151 million through 
revised intragroup funding. 

Treasury policies 
The role of the Group’s treasury function 
is to ensure that we have the funding to meet 
foreseeable needs to maintain reasonable 
headroom for future contingencies and to 
manage interest rate risk. The Group enters 
into certain structured financing transactions 
that have and are expected to provide 
an improved return on surplus funds 
and overall interest rate performance. 
It operates only within policies approved
by the Board and undertakes no speculative 
trading activity. 

The Board regularly monitors expected 
financing needs for at least the next 12 
months. These are intended to be met for 
the coming year from existing cash balances, 
loan facilities and operating cash flows. 

The Group has considerable financial 
resources and a broad spread of business 
activities. The Directors therefore believe 
that it is well placed to manage its business 
risks despite the ongoing uncertainties 
of the current economic environment. 

Internal borrowing 
South West Water’s funding is treated 
for regulatory purposes as ring-fenced. 
This means that funds raised by, or for, 
the company are not available as long-term 
funding for other areas of the Group. 

Going concern 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation 
that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue its operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. They therefore have 
continued to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements. 

Taxation objectives and policies 
Our tax strategy, as approved by the 
Board, is to ensure we do not engage in 
any practices which avoid paying tax at the 
appropriate levels. We manage the taxes 
we pay having regard to the interests of our 
shareholders and our long-term relationship 
with the tax authorities. We will consider 
bona-fide arrangements which are integral 
to our business and which qualify for tax 
exemption or relief. 

Tax contribution 2012/13 

The Group made a net payment of 
£18.5 million of UK corporation tax in 
the year (2011/12 £41.4 million) which 
reflects settlement of previous years’ 
tax computations and tax relief on the 
exceptional charge for aftercare costs. 
South West Water paid £34.0 million 
(2011/12 £28.5 million) of UK corporation 
tax on profit before tax of £164.6 million 
(2011/12 £141.5 million).

Landfill tax
£162m

Employment taxes
£51m

Business rates
£29m

UK corporation tax
£19m

Fuel Excise Duty
£11m

Environmental payments
£10m

Carbon Reduction Commitment
£1m

Other 
£3m
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The total tax charge for the year (before 
exceptional net charges) of £31.1 million 
was less than the charge which would have 
arisen had the accounting profit before tax 
of £198.2 million been taxed at the statutory 
rate of 24%. A reconciliation is provided  
in note 9 to the financial statements. 

The Group’s total tax contribution extends 
significantly beyond the UK corporation 
tax charge. 

Total taxes amounted to £261 million 
of which £39 million was collected on behalf 
of the authorities for employee payroll taxes. 

In addition to corporation tax the most 
significant taxes involved, together with their 
profit impact, were: 
• Landfill tax of £139 million was collected  
 by the Group on behalf of HM Revenue 
 & Customs (HMRC). This amount includes  
 £10 million paid to local environment   
 bodies via the Landfill Tax Credits Scheme.  
 Landfill tax is an operating cost which 
 is recovered from customers and is 
 recognised in revenue. In addition 
 the Group incurred landfill tax of £23 million  
 on the disposal of waste to third parties.  
 This is an operating cost for the Group 
 and reduces profit before tax 
• Value Added Tax (VAT) of £25 million   
 was recovered by the Group from HMRC.  
 The repayment has arisen chiefly as 
 a result of the large capital expenditure  
 incurred by Viridor on EfW plants. VAT 
 has no material impact on profit before tax  
• business rates of £29 million paid 
 to local authorities. This is a direct cost 
 to the Group and reduces profit before tax 
• employment taxes of £51 million including  
 employees’ Pay As You Earn (PAYE) 
 and total National Insurance Contributions  
 (NICs). Employer NICs of £13 million  
 were charged approximately 94% 
 to operating costs with 6% capitalised 
 to property, plant and equipment. 
 This amount includes PAYE of £2 million 
 on pension payments made by the Group  
 pension scheme 

• Fuel Excise Duty of £11 million related 
 to transport costs. This reduces profit  
 before tax 
• payments to Environment Agency 
 and other regulatory bodies total £10  
 million. This reduces profit before tax 
• Carbon Reduction Commitment payment  
 for the Group was £1 million; this payment  
 includes a credit of £1 million arising from  
 Viridor energy production. This reduces  
 profit before tax. 

The corporation tax rate for 2012/13 used 
to calculate the current year’s tax is 24%. 
The corporation tax rate has been reduced 
to 23% for 2013/14 and is expected to fall 
further, subject to legislation being enacted, 
to 20% from 1 April 2015. 

Pensions 
The Group operates defined benefit pension 
schemes for certain employees of Pennon 
Group, South West Water and Viridor. 
The main schemes were closed to new 
entrants on or before 1 April 2008. 

At 31 March 2013 the Group’s pension 
schemes showed a deficit (before deferred 
tax) of £110 million (2011/12 £99 million), 
the increase primarily reflecting a reduction 
in the long-term net discount rate of 0.53%, 
the main factor being lower AA bond yields.  

Net liabilities of £85 million (after deferred 
tax) represented around 4% of the Group’s 
market capitalisation at 31 March 2013. 
The revision to IAS 19, to be implemented 
in 2013/14, is expected to result in a 
net finance cost in 2013/14 of £4 million 
(2012/13 credit of £4 million). A further 
£1 million is expected to be charged to 
operating profit to recognise administration 
costs as they are incurred. Pension liabilities 
will reduce by £10 million as at 31 March 
2013 as a result of the change.

South West Water’s cash contributions 
to the schemes remain within Ofwat’s 
Final Determination for the K5 period. 

The last actuarial valuation of the main 
scheme was at 31 March 2010 and the 
triennial valuation at 31 March 2013 is 
currently under way. The deficit is expected 
to be higher than IAS 19 due to the lower 
gilt rates used to discount liabilities.

Insurance 
Pennon Group manages its property 
and third party liability risks through 
insurance policies that mainly cover 
property, motor, business interruption, 
public liability, environmental pollution 
and employers’ liability. 

The Group uses three tiers of insurance 
to cover operating risks: 
• Self-insurance – Group companies pay 
 a moderate excess on most claims 
• Cover by the Group’s subsidiary 
 (Peninsula Insurance Limited) of the layer 
 of risk between the self-insurance 
 and the cover provided by external insurers 
• Cover provided by the external insurance  
 market, arranged by our brokers with  
 insurance companies which have good  
 credit ratings. 
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ABG’s economic contribution

Direct economic contribution
Direct economic contribution is made up of the economic value we add by 
paying our employees, governments, suppliers, shareholders, contractors 
and communities. However, our true economic contribution is far greater 
once the greater effects of our presence is considered. These include the 
indirect effects of people spending their wages, governments distributing 
tax and royalty revenues, and neighbouring communities using the 
infrastructure developed for our operations. 

We contribute to the economic growth of our host communities, regions and countries 
in a number of ways to assist the progression of sustainable socio-economic development. 
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Taxation contribution
The table below shows the total of all tax payments for each of the main 
countries where we have operations or projects. The distribution of taxes 
paid by the Group reflects the geographical spread of our business. The 
majority of our taxes are paid in Tanzania, this being the location of our 
operating mines, followed by South Africa. Although ABG’s headquarters 
are in London, only a small proportion of our operations are located in 
the UK. A large proportion of our administrative, finance and technical 
support functions are located in South Africa. Please refer to the 
government relations discussion provided as part of the Chief Executive 
Officer’s statement for information regarding developments affecting 
royalty payments during the year. 

(US$’000) Taxes borne
Taxes 

collected Subtotal
Taxes 

refunded 

Net 
payments to 

governments 

Tanzania 99,658 54,991 154,649 (4,500) 150,149
South Africa 1,541 5,712 7,253 (1,146) 6,107
Other 1,656 2,381 4,037 (868) 3,169
Total 102,855 63,084 165,939 (6,514) 159,425

2011 NET TAX CONTRIBUTION
(US$m)

Corporate income tax 39
Royalty – government 33
Indirect taxes (VAT and fuel levies) (15)
Payroll taxes (inc. social security) 72
Other taxes (inc. WHT, stamp duties,
environmental levies 15

$144

2012 NET TAX CONTRIBUTION
(US$m)

Corporate income tax 0
Royalty – government 40
Indirect taxes (VAT and fuel levies) 17
Payroll taxes (inc. social security) 75
Other taxes (inc. WHT, stamp duties,
environmental levies 27

$159

ABG’s total direct economic contribution was US$1,073 million in 2012 (US$1,063 million in 2011).

Of this, our net taxation contribution was US$159 million (US$144 million in 2011).
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement continued

Key challenges 
and mitigants Challenges Mitigants
Power supply •	 Unreliable grid power •	 Optimising use of back-up power

•	 Ongoing review of alternative sources for  
power generation

Security, trespass  
and vandalism

•	 Incidences of trespass, theft, corruption  
and vandalism at operations

•	 Upgrading security infrastructure
•	 Development of security personnel
•	 Progressing dialogue on law and order

Community relations •	 Operational and reputational impact of  
legacy issues as a result of prior management  
of relations with local communities

•	 Continue to build on existing community 
relationships

•	 ABG Maendeleo Fund
•	 Development of social management plans

Land acquisition •	 Impact of land acquisition cost and delays in 
completing such acquisitions on current mining 
activities, particularly at North Mara

•	 Engagement with local and central government  
to address land speculation

Developing commercial 
mining industry

•	 Challenge of developing and retaining  
a skilled workforce

•	 Continuing investment in training and development
•	 Continued progression of programmes for 

workforce localisation

On our greenfield exploration portfolio we continued to increase the size 
of the Nyanzaga resource, which now has an in-pit resource of over 4.6 
million ounces (“Moz”) of gold (“Au”) consisting of 3.75 Moz at 1.42 g/t 
Au Indicated and 0.85 Moz at 1.81 g/t Au Inferred. We are currently 
finalising the pre-feasibility study and expect to take a decision on whether 
to progress to a full feasibility study by the middle of the year.

We also acquired an interest in over 2,800 square kilometres of under 
explored, highly prospective licence areas in Kenya for an initial 
consideration of US$22 million, including exploration funding. The 
licences add more than 20 existing targets from grassroots through to the 
drill testing stage into the exploration and development pipeline and will 
be the focus for a significant proportion of our exploration budget in 2013.

Drilling at North Mara has continued to highlight the potential for 
underground development at both the Gokona and Nyabirama pits and 
we are undertaking the technical trade-off analysis in order to establish 
how best to sequence the underground potential with the existing open pit 
operations in order to maximise the life of mine return from the mine.

Government relations
Notwithstanding the acquisition of AMKL in 2012, the majority of our 
assets and our cash flow remain in Tanzania. During 2012, we continued 
to build on the constructive dialogue we enjoy with the Tanzanian 
government as our operations delivered significant benefits and value to 
our host communities. The decision to voluntarily move to a royalty rate 
of 4% from 3% was one that ABG instigated but it was also recognition of 
the improved level of cooperation we saw from the Tanzanian authorities 

as we solved a range of taxation, permitting and licensing issues, some 
of which dated from several years back.

As we move into 2013 there remains much to be done and it is vital we 
enjoy the ongoing support of the government in these areas. Across our 
asset base, the lack of availability of reliable power is a key issue for us and 
one which is receiving attention at the highest levels within the Tanzanian 
government, and we look forward to the government delivering on its 
initiatives to alleviate this issue. At North Mara, we have seen good 
support over the last few months in relation to improving law and order 
but need to resolve a number of land access issues to ensure we have the 
appropriate footprint for our operations and we look forward to the 
government’s support in achieving this. Elsewhere, we are encouraging the 
government to help resolve the pension fund issue which has impacted 
our workforce. From a taxation perspective, we are working closely with 
the appropriate authorities to ensure we minimise the level of working 
capital tied up in indirect tax payments which are recoverable under the 
terms of our Mineral Development Agreements.

Licence to operate
From an operational perspective, ABG has a high quality and well 
invested portfolio of assets which positions us strongly for the long term. 
However, without the accompanying licence to operate and a stable 
working relationship with all stakeholders, the quality of our assets could 
be significantly impacted. For this reason, the achievements we have made 
with the government and with our host communities on issues relating to 
our operating environment are of key importance. We have benefited from 
a full year of operation of the ABG Maendeleo Fund which has supported 
a range of projects across our operations throughout the year.
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement continued

Key challenges 
and mitigants Challenges Mitigants
Power supply •	 Unreliable grid power •	 Optimising use of back-up power

•	 Ongoing review of alternative sources for  
power generation
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and vandalism

•	 Incidences of trespass, theft, corruption  
and vandalism at operations

•	 Upgrading security infrastructure
•	 Development of security personnel
•	 Progressing dialogue on law and order

Community relations •	 Operational and reputational impact of  
legacy issues as a result of prior management  
of relations with local communities

•	 Continue to build on existing community 
relationships

•	 ABG Maendeleo Fund
•	 Development of social management plans

Land acquisition •	 Impact of land acquisition cost and delays in 
completing such acquisitions on current mining 
activities, particularly at North Mara

•	 Engagement with local and central government  
to address land speculation

Developing commercial 
mining industry

•	 Challenge of developing and retaining  
a skilled workforce

•	 Continuing investment in training and development
•	 Continued progression of programmes for 

workforce localisation

On our greenfield exploration portfolio we continued to increase the size 
of the Nyanzaga resource, which now has an in-pit resource of over 4.6 
million ounces (“Moz”) of gold (“Au”) consisting of 3.75 Moz at 1.42 g/t 
Au Indicated and 0.85 Moz at 1.81 g/t Au Inferred. We are currently 
finalising the pre-feasibility study and expect to take a decision on whether 
to progress to a full feasibility study by the middle of the year.

We also acquired an interest in over 2,800 square kilometres of under 
explored, highly prospective licence areas in Kenya for an initial 
consideration of US$22 million, including exploration funding. The 
licences add more than 20 existing targets from grassroots through to the 
drill testing stage into the exploration and development pipeline and will 
be the focus for a significant proportion of our exploration budget in 2013.

Drilling at North Mara has continued to highlight the potential for 
underground development at both the Gokona and Nyabirama pits and 
we are undertaking the technical trade-off analysis in order to establish 
how best to sequence the underground potential with the existing open pit 
operations in order to maximise the life of mine return from the mine.

Government relations
Notwithstanding the acquisition of AMKL in 2012, the majority of our 
assets and our cash flow remain in Tanzania. During 2012, we continued 
to build on the constructive dialogue we enjoy with the Tanzanian 
government as our operations delivered significant benefits and value to 
our host communities. The decision to voluntarily move to a royalty rate 
of 4% from 3% was one that ABG instigated but it was also recognition of 
the improved level of cooperation we saw from the Tanzanian authorities 

as we solved a range of taxation, permitting and licensing issues, some 
of which dated from several years back.

As we move into 2013 there remains much to be done and it is vital we 
enjoy the ongoing support of the government in these areas. Across our 
asset base, the lack of availability of reliable power is a key issue for us and 
one which is receiving attention at the highest levels within the Tanzanian 
government, and we look forward to the government delivering on its 
initiatives to alleviate this issue. At North Mara, we have seen good 
support over the last few months in relation to improving law and order 
but need to resolve a number of land access issues to ensure we have the 
appropriate footprint for our operations and we look forward to the 
government’s support in achieving this. Elsewhere, we are encouraging the 
government to help resolve the pension fund issue which has impacted 
our workforce. From a taxation perspective, we are working closely with 
the appropriate authorities to ensure we minimise the level of working 
capital tied up in indirect tax payments which are recoverable under the 
terms of our Mineral Development Agreements.

Licence to operate
From an operational perspective, ABG has a high quality and well 
invested portfolio of assets which positions us strongly for the long term. 
However, without the accompanying licence to operate and a stable 
working relationship with all stakeholders, the quality of our assets could 
be significantly impacted. For this reason, the achievements we have made 
with the government and with our host communities on issues relating to 
our operating environment are of key importance. We have benefited from 
a full year of operation of the ABG Maendeleo Fund which has supported 
a range of projects across our operations throughout the year.

10 www.africanbarrickgold.com

Chief Executive Officer’s statement continued

Key challenges 
and mitigants Challenges Mitigants
Power supply •	 Unreliable grid power •	 Optimising use of back-up power

•	 Ongoing review of alternative sources for  
power generation

Security, trespass  
and vandalism

•	 Incidences of trespass, theft, corruption  
and vandalism at operations

•	 Upgrading security infrastructure
•	 Development of security personnel
•	 Progressing dialogue on law and order

Community relations •	 Operational and reputational impact of  
legacy issues as a result of prior management  
of relations with local communities

•	 Continue to build on existing community 
relationships

•	 ABG Maendeleo Fund
•	 Development of social management plans

Land acquisition •	 Impact of land acquisition cost and delays in 
completing such acquisitions on current mining 
activities, particularly at North Mara

•	 Engagement with local and central government  
to address land speculation

Developing commercial 
mining industry

•	 Challenge of developing and retaining  
a skilled workforce

•	 Continuing investment in training and development
•	 Continued progression of programmes for 

workforce localisation

On our greenfield exploration portfolio we continued to increase the size 
of the Nyanzaga resource, which now has an in-pit resource of over 4.6 
million ounces (“Moz”) of gold (“Au”) consisting of 3.75 Moz at 1.42 g/t 
Au Indicated and 0.85 Moz at 1.81 g/t Au Inferred. We are currently 
finalising the pre-feasibility study and expect to take a decision on whether 
to progress to a full feasibility study by the middle of the year.

We also acquired an interest in over 2,800 square kilometres of under 
explored, highly prospective licence areas in Kenya for an initial 
consideration of US$22 million, including exploration funding. The 
licences add more than 20 existing targets from grassroots through to the 
drill testing stage into the exploration and development pipeline and will 
be the focus for a significant proportion of our exploration budget in 2013.

Drilling at North Mara has continued to highlight the potential for 
underground development at both the Gokona and Nyabirama pits and 
we are undertaking the technical trade-off analysis in order to establish 
how best to sequence the underground potential with the existing open pit 
operations in order to maximise the life of mine return from the mine.

Government relations
Notwithstanding the acquisition of AMKL in 2012, the majority of our 
assets and our cash flow remain in Tanzania. During 2012, we continued 
to build on the constructive dialogue we enjoy with the Tanzanian 
government as our operations delivered significant benefits and value to 
our host communities. The decision to voluntarily move to a royalty rate 
of 4% from 3% was one that ABG instigated but it was also recognition of 
the improved level of cooperation we saw from the Tanzanian authorities 

as we solved a range of taxation, permitting and licensing issues, some 
of which dated from several years back.

As we move into 2013 there remains much to be done and it is vital we 
enjoy the ongoing support of the government in these areas. Across our 
asset base, the lack of availability of reliable power is a key issue for us and 
one which is receiving attention at the highest levels within the Tanzanian 
government, and we look forward to the government delivering on its 
initiatives to alleviate this issue. At North Mara, we have seen good 
support over the last few months in relation to improving law and order 
but need to resolve a number of land access issues to ensure we have the 
appropriate footprint for our operations and we look forward to the 
government’s support in achieving this. Elsewhere, we are encouraging the 
government to help resolve the pension fund issue which has impacted 
our workforce. From a taxation perspective, we are working closely with 
the appropriate authorities to ensure we minimise the level of working 
capital tied up in indirect tax payments which are recoverable under the 
terms of our Mineral Development Agreements.

Licence to operate
From an operational perspective, ABG has a high quality and well 
invested portfolio of assets which positions us strongly for the long term. 
However, without the accompanying licence to operate and a stable 
working relationship with all stakeholders, the quality of our assets could 
be significantly impacted. For this reason, the achievements we have made 
with the government and with our host communities on issues relating to 
our operating environment are of key importance. We have benefited from 
a full year of operation of the ABG Maendeleo Fund which has supported 
a range of projects across our operations throughout the year.
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and vandalism at operations
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•	 Progressing dialogue on law and order

Community relations •	 Operational and reputational impact of  
legacy issues as a result of prior management  
of relations with local communities

•	 Continue to build on existing community 
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•	 ABG Maendeleo Fund
•	 Development of social management plans

Land acquisition •	 Impact of land acquisition cost and delays in 
completing such acquisitions on current mining 
activities, particularly at North Mara

•	 Engagement with local and central government  
to address land speculation

Developing commercial 
mining industry

•	 Challenge of developing and retaining  
a skilled workforce

•	 Continuing investment in training and development
•	 Continued progression of programmes for 

workforce localisation

On our greenfield exploration portfolio we continued to increase the size 
of the Nyanzaga resource, which now has an in-pit resource of over 4.6 
million ounces (“Moz”) of gold (“Au”) consisting of 3.75 Moz at 1.42 g/t 
Au Indicated and 0.85 Moz at 1.81 g/t Au Inferred. We are currently 
finalising the pre-feasibility study and expect to take a decision on whether 
to progress to a full feasibility study by the middle of the year.

We also acquired an interest in over 2,800 square kilometres of under 
explored, highly prospective licence areas in Kenya for an initial 
consideration of US$22 million, including exploration funding. The 
licences add more than 20 existing targets from grassroots through to the 
drill testing stage into the exploration and development pipeline and will 
be the focus for a significant proportion of our exploration budget in 2013.

Drilling at North Mara has continued to highlight the potential for 
underground development at both the Gokona and Nyabirama pits and 
we are undertaking the technical trade-off analysis in order to establish 
how best to sequence the underground potential with the existing open pit 
operations in order to maximise the life of mine return from the mine.

Government relations
Notwithstanding the acquisition of AMKL in 2012, the majority of our 
assets and our cash flow remain in Tanzania. During 2012, we continued 
to build on the constructive dialogue we enjoy with the Tanzanian 
government as our operations delivered significant benefits and value to 
our host communities. The decision to voluntarily move to a royalty rate 
of 4% from 3% was one that ABG instigated but it was also recognition of 
the improved level of cooperation we saw from the Tanzanian authorities 

as we solved a range of taxation, permitting and licensing issues, some 
of which dated from several years back.

As we move into 2013 there remains much to be done and it is vital we 
enjoy the ongoing support of the government in these areas. Across our 
asset base, the lack of availability of reliable power is a key issue for us and 
one which is receiving attention at the highest levels within the Tanzanian 
government, and we look forward to the government delivering on its 
initiatives to alleviate this issue. At North Mara, we have seen good 
support over the last few months in relation to improving law and order 
but need to resolve a number of land access issues to ensure we have the 
appropriate footprint for our operations and we look forward to the 
government’s support in achieving this. Elsewhere, we are encouraging the 
government to help resolve the pension fund issue which has impacted 
our workforce. From a taxation perspective, we are working closely with 
the appropriate authorities to ensure we minimise the level of working 
capital tied up in indirect tax payments which are recoverable under the 
terms of our Mineral Development Agreements.

Licence to operate
From an operational perspective, ABG has a high quality and well 
invested portfolio of assets which positions us strongly for the long term. 
However, without the accompanying licence to operate and a stable 
working relationship with all stakeholders, the quality of our assets could 
be significantly impacted. For this reason, the achievements we have made 
with the government and with our host communities on issues relating to 
our operating environment are of key importance. We have benefited from 
a full year of operation of the ABG Maendeleo Fund which has supported 
a range of projects across our operations throughout the year.

African Barrick Gold discusses mining royalties and indirect 
taxes and shows the amount of these taxes that it pays

Source: African Barrick Gold, Annual 
Report and Accounts 2012, p10, 43

ABG’s economic contribution

Direct economic contribution
Direct economic contribution is made up of the economic value we add by 
paying our employees, governments, suppliers, shareholders, contractors 
and communities. However, our true economic contribution is far greater 
once the greater effects of our presence is considered. These include the 
indirect effects of people spending their wages, governments distributing 
tax and royalty revenues, and neighbouring communities using the 
infrastructure developed for our operations. 

We contribute to the economic growth of our host communities, regions and countries 
in a number of ways to assist the progression of sustainable socio-economic development. 
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Taxation contribution
The table below shows the total of all tax payments for each of the main 
countries where we have operations or projects. The distribution of taxes 
paid by the Group reflects the geographical spread of our business. The 
majority of our taxes are paid in Tanzania, this being the location of our 
operating mines, followed by South Africa. Although ABG’s headquarters 
are in London, only a small proportion of our operations are located in 
the UK. A large proportion of our administrative, finance and technical 
support functions are located in South Africa. Please refer to the 
government relations discussion provided as part of the Chief Executive 
Officer’s statement for information regarding developments affecting 
royalty payments during the year. 

(US$’000) Taxes borne
Taxes 

collected Subtotal
Taxes 

refunded 

Net 
payments to 

governments 

Tanzania 99,658 54,991 154,649 (4,500) 150,149
South Africa 1,541 5,712 7,253 (1,146) 6,107
Other 1,656 2,381 4,037 (868) 3,169
Total 102,855 63,084 165,939 (6,514) 159,425

2011 NET TAX CONTRIBUTION
(US$m)

Corporate income tax 39
Royalty – government 33
Indirect taxes (VAT and fuel levies) (15)
Payroll taxes (inc. social security) 72
Other taxes (inc. WHT, stamp duties,
environmental levies 15

$144

2012 NET TAX CONTRIBUTION
(US$m)

Corporate income tax 0
Royalty – government 40
Indirect taxes (VAT and fuel levies) 17
Payroll taxes (inc. social security) 75
Other taxes (inc. WHT, stamp duties,
environmental levies 27

$159

ABG’s total direct economic contribution was US$1,073 million in 2012 (US$1,063 million in 2011).

Of this, our net taxation contribution was US$159 million (US$144 million in 2011).
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PwC has a strong network of people who can advise you on how to develop 
your reporting to best meet the needs of your business, the board and external 
stakeholders. To discuss reporting insights for your organisation, please speak 
to your usual contact or one of these people:

Andrew Packman 
Leader – Tax Transparency and 
Total Tax Contribution 
Tel: +44 (18) 9552 2104 
email: andrew.packman@uk.pwc.com

Janet Kerr 
Senior Manager  
Tel: +44 (20) 7804 7134 
email: janet.kerr@uk.pwc.com

Tom Dane 
Manager 
Tel: +44 (20) 7804 7712  
email: thomas.a.dane@uk.pwc.com

James Pan 
Senior Associate 
Tel: +44 (20) 7212 6003  
email: jia.lu.pan@uk.pwc.com
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